
  

Plan Commission  
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130  314-505-8500 Fax:  314-862-3168  
  

AGENDA  

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING  
Wednesday, October 25, 2023 at 6:30 pm  

Loca�on: Hybrid mee�ng (both in-person and virtual* atendance op�ons)  
Heman Park Community Center  

975 Pennsylvania Avenue  
*For virtual meeting details, see next page.   

1. Roll Call  

2. Approval of Minutes  

a. September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes  

3. Public Comments – (Limited to 3 minutes for individual’s comments, 5 minutes for representa�ves 
of groups or organiza�ons.)   

4. Old Business   

5. New Business  

a. TXT-23-04 
Applicant: Subtext Acquisi�ons, LLC 
Request: Text Amendment to sec�ons 400.760, 400.780, 400.1190, 400.2130 of the zoning 
code 
VOTE REQUIRED 
  

b. REZ-23-02 
Applicant: Subtext Acquisi�ons, LLC  
Request: Map Amendment from Core Commercial District (CC) to Planned 
Development – Mixed-Use (PD-M) and to further consider approval of a Preliminary 
Development Plan 
Loca�on: 6630-6654 Delmar Boulevard 
VOTE REQUIRED 

  

c. SUB-23-02 
Applicant: Subtext Acquisi�ons, LLC  
Request: Approval of a consolida�on plat 
Loca�on: 6630-6654 Delmar Boulevard 
VOTE REQUIRED  

  
6. Other Business  

7. Reports  

a. Council Liaison Report  
b. Housing & Third Ward Revitaliza�on Task Force Report  

8. Adjournment  

October 25, 2023 Plan Commission Agenda  



  

Plan Commission  
6801 Delmar Boulevard University City, Missouri 63130 314-505-8500 Fax:  314-862-3168  
  

VIRTUAL MEETING DETAILS  

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING  
Wednesday, October 25, 2023 at 6:30 pm  

Loca�on: Hybrid mee�ng (both in-person and virtual* atendance op�ons)  
Heman Park Community Center  

975 Pennsylvania Avenue  
*For virtual meeting details, see below:  

Observe and/or Listen to the Mee�ng (your op�ons to join the mee�ng are below):  
  

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
htps://us02web.zoom.us/j/87886319189?pwd=aG9lMDF3c3JhWU11RHNtQTBHWVVxQT09 
 
Passcode: 350465 
Or One tap mobile: 
    +13126266799,,87886319189#,,,,*350465# US (Chicago) 
    +13462487799,,87886319189#,,,,*350465# US (Houston) 
Or Telephone: 
    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current loca�on): 
    +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
    +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
    +1 360 209 5623 US 
    +1 386 347 5053 US 
    +1 507 473 4847 US 
    +1 564 217 2000 US 
    +1 646 931 3860 US 
    +1 669 444 9171 US 
    +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 

    +1 689 278 1000 US 
    +1 719 359 4580 US 
    +1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
    +1 253 205 0468 US 
    +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
    +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
    +1 305 224 1968 US 
    +1 309 205 3325 US 

 
Webinar ID: 878 8631 9189 
Passcode: 350465 
Interna�onal numbers available: htps://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcZ4U6YNAr  
 
Ci�zen Par�cipa�on  
Comments may be sent via email to: jwagner@ucitymo.org or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. –  
Aten�on John L. Wagner, Director of Planning and Development.  Such comments will be provided to the 
Plan Commission prior to the mee�ng.  Comments will be made a part of the official record and made 
accessible to the public online following the mee�ng.  Please note, when submi�ng your comments or 
invites, a name and address must be provided.  Please also note if your comment is on an agenda or 
nonagenda item, and a name and address are not provided, the provided comment will not be recorded in 
the official record.   

 
 

October 25, 2023 Plan Commission Agenda  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87886319189?pwd=aG9lMDF3c3JhWU11RHNtQTBHWVVxQT09


 

September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting Minutes DRAFT  
Page 1 of 3 

Department of Planning and Development  
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8500, Fax: (314) 862-3168  

   

MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT)  
PLAN COMMISSION  

Loca�on: Heman Park Community Center (975 Pennsylvania Ave) and via Videoconference (Zoom)  
Wednesday, September 27, 2023 at 6:30pm 

  
The Plan Commission held its regular session on Wednesday, September 27, 2023 at Heman Park 
Community Center and via Zoom. The mee�ng commenced at 6:30 pm and adjourned at 8:45 pm.  
  
Call to Order – (6:30 pm) Chairwoman Holly called the mee�ng to order.   

  
1. Roll Call  
Present              
Al Fleischer Jr.  
Charles Gascon 
Mark Harvey  
Ellen Hartz  
Margaret Holly   
Patricia McQueen 
Tori Gonzalez (joined 7:26 pm) 

Absent 
Jeff Hales (Council Liaison) 
 
Staff Present 
Mary Kennedy, Planner 
John Wagner, Director of Planning & 
Development 

  
2. Approval of Minutes  

a. July 26, 2023 – Approved with no correc�ons 

b. August 16, 2023 – Approved with three minor correc�ons 

3. Public Comments – none   

4. Old Business – none   

5. New Business   
Chair Holly recommended amending the agenda so that CUP-23-05 would be first on the agenda, 
followed by the Dra� 2023 Comprehensive Plan and the Working Session. The Commission 
approved the amended order of business. 

a. CUP-23-05 
Applicant: Malikah Johnson, Morning Star Academy  
Request: Condi�onal Use Permit (CUP) to allow for the opera�on of a daycare center at 6523 
Olive Boulevard 
Address: 6523 Olive Boulevard 
PUBLIC HEARING, VOTE REQUIRED  

Chair Margaret Holly introduced the Condi�onal Use Permit applica�on and reminded the 
Commission and audience of the review criteria. 

John Wagner, Director of Planning & Development, presented the staff report. 



 

September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting Minutes DRAFT  
Page 2 of 3 

The applicant, Malikah Johnson was present and added that the proposed daycare center 
would be their second loca�on, but first loca�on in University City. 

The public hearing was opened at 6:45 pm. There were no public comments, and the public 
hearing was closed at 6:45 pm. 

Commissioners asked the applicant a few ques�ons related to obtaining writen approval from 
the property owner for the use of parking spaces on the adjacent property (both the subject 
and adjacent property are under the same ownership); the previous daycare facility that 
existed on the subject property; whether most of the children would be University City 
residents; and clarifica�on on which floor the daycare would be located on. 

Commissioner McQueen mo�oned to recommend the Condi�onal Use Permit to City Council. 

Addi�onal discussion was had regarding the property’s flood history. Ms. Johnson informed 
the Commission that she had the space tested for mold and inspected to ensure it was safe 
for a daycare facility, which is required by the state. 

The mo�on passed with 6 ayes and 0 nays. 

b. Dra� 2023 Comprehensive Plan 
Request: Recommenda�on of the dra� 2023 Comprehensive Plan 

Commissioner Gascon introduced the dra� comprehensive plan along with a final round of 
recommended edits, which shared with the Commission in advance of the mee�ng. 

The first set of recommended edits (pages 2-5 of the “Discussion Agenda” document) consisted 
of changes that were discussed and approved in advance by the Comprehensive Plan 
Subcommitee of the Plan Commission. Commissioner Gascon mo�oned to approve this first 
set of edits. The mo�on passed with 6 ayes and 0 nays. 

The second set of recommended edits (page 1 of the “Discussion Agenda”) included minor 
edits that the Comprehensive Plan Subcommitee did not have a chance to review and approve 
in advance of the mee�ng. These edits were discussed line by line, beginning with the “minor 
changes”. Commissioner Fleischer mo�oned to approve the “minor changes” on page 1 of the 
“Discussion Agenda”. The mo�on passed with 6 ayes and 0 nays.  

The Plan Commission con�nued discussing the other edits on page 1 of the “Discussion 
Agenda” and agreed upon a few modifica�ons. Those modifica�ons are noted in the document 
�tled “Discussion Agenda - Approved”, which is atached to these mee�ng minutes.  

Commissioner Fleischer mo�oned to approve page 1 of the Discussion Agenda with the 
modifica�ons described above. The mo�on passed with 6 ayes and 0 nays. 

Chair Holly opened the public hearing at 7:21 pm.  

Tom Dawson (932 Barnard College) thanked the Plan Commission for their work on the 
comprehensive plan and asked that the Commission consider how to spread awareness of the 
final plan and ensure good access to the document for ci�zens. The Commissioners agreed with 
Mr. Dawson that access to the plan document is cri�cal and thanked him for his comments. 

The public hearing was closed at 7:24 pm. 

Commissioner Hartz mo�oned to approve Resolu�on #PC-2023-01 with the changes discussed 
and approved above and atached. The mo�on passed unanimously with 7 ayes and 0 nays. 

c. Working Session 
Applicant: Subtext, LLC  



 

September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting Minutes DRAFT  
Page 3 of 3 

Request: Working session to obtain feedback from the Plan Commission on a proposed mixed-
use development in the Delmar Loop 
Address: 6630-6654 Delmar Boulevard 

The applicants, Mitchell Korte (3000 Locust Street, St. Louis) and Neil Reardon (500 South 
Washington Avenue, Minneapolis), gave an updated presenta�on of the proposed mixed-use 
development for the former Commerce Bank/Cra� Alliance site in the Loop (6630-6654 
Delmar Boulevard). 

The Commissioners posed several ques�ons and comments related to the architectural plans; 
providing sufficient landscaping within the tree lawn; public bicycle parking availability for 
retail, restaurant, and residen�al visitors; importance of walkability in the 2023 
Comprehensive Plan; aesthe�cs of the conceptual building materials; importance of including 
addi�onal parking ra�o comps from other developments in University City and the region 
which have similar access to transit; orienta�on of private balconies; exterior ligh�ng 
schemes; ver�cal plan�ngs as screening for the south wall of the parking garage facing Loop 
South; the importance of the restaurant tenant space to the community; and ques�ons 
regarding how the proposed shared parking would work if residen�al parking spaces are 
secured for residen�al tenant access only. 

Commissioner Fleischer, Chair of the Code Review Subcommitee of the Plan Commission, 
gave a quick overview of the dra� proposed Text Amendments associated with the proposed 
mixed-use development. 

Commissioner Gonzalez emphasized the importance of being able to address and respond to 
parking conflicts in surrounding neighborhoods. 

Commissioner Harvey suggested that the applicants contact trustees of University Heights #2 
and Ames Place to obtain input on the proposed development prior to presen�ng an official 
applica�on to the Plan Commission. 

Commissioner McQueen asked whether students were intended occupants of the apartments. 
Commissioner Holly responded that this was discussed at the previous July 26 working 
session, and that the applicants have designed the building to atract a wide range of tenants 
(young professionals, families, empty nesters) but students would not be excluded.  

No ac�on was required or taken by the Plan Commission. 

6. Other Business – none   

7. Reports: 

a Council Liaison Report – None 

b Housing & Third Ward Revitaliza�on Task Force Report – Commissioner McQueen reported 
that the task force has begun the planning process with the consultant, and that the consult 
is currently in the phase of gathering data. 

c Comprehensive Plan Subcommitee Report – None 

d Code Review Subcommitee Report – None  

8. Adjournment – The mee�ng was adjourned at 8:45 pm.  

  
 



Page 1 of 6 

Discussion Agenda – Approved 
The 2023 Comprehensive Plan was approved by the Plan Commission at the 9/27/23 mee�ng with the following changes 
being made to the Dra� 2023 Comprehensive Plan dated 9/22/23: 

- Comprehensive Plan Subcommitee Edits (see atached document, pages 3-6) 
- Straigh�orward/minor changes:  

o Ch 3, Page 39: Add references to sidebar regarding economic impacts of walkable streets 
o Ch 3, Page 44: Add Calhoun and Macoupin coun�es to the list of Illinois coun�es 
o Ch 3, Page 89: Include the updated school enrollment graph by grade, focused on K-12 enrollment. 
o Ch 3, Page 95: Remove text of F.5.1 (it is redundant with objec�ve F.5) and change the two sub-ac�ons 

into Ac�on F.5.1 and F.5.2. 
o Ch 5, Page 131: Add “Housing & Third Ward Revitaliza�on Task Force” as a Suppor�ng En�ty for C.3.4 
o Ch 5, Page 139: Change �meframe from “M” (Medium-term) to “O” (Ongoing) for F.3.3 
o Ch 5, Page 139: Change �meframe from “O” (Ongoing) to “S” (Short-term) for F.4.2 
o Ch 5, Page 140: Separate sub-ac�ons i and ii into two regular-level ac�ons F.5.1 and F.5.2, and assign 

Lead Coordinator and Suppor�ng En��es as follows for both ac�ons: 
 Lead Coordinator: City Manager’s Office 
 Suppor�ng En��es: All City Departments, Boards & Commissions 

- Changes that warrant some discussion: 
o Ch 1, Page 4: This plan, funded by details Washington University’s, and in collabora�on with University 

City staff and business associa�ons, details strategies plan to reinvigorate the Loop and its surrounding 
area following a decline in popularity in the late 2000s. Planned interven�ons included increased 
residen�al development, dense mixed-use development, and nodes of transit-oriented development. 

o Ch 1, Page 8: Add excerpt from Mapping Decline as a sidebar 
o Ch 3, Page 45: Map of residen�al property values: adjust midpoint in legend to median house price in 

University City (272k) 
o Ch 3, Page 93: Washington University has purchased several proper�es in and around the Loop and has a 

strategic plan for development in the Loop. Washington University has also made investments in the 
Loop. As a non-profit ins�tu�on they may choose to make purchased proper�es tax-exempt by using 
them for tax-exempt purposes and have done so with many. This change directly results in a net 
reduc�on of property tax revenue suppor�ng the City and Schoolspublic schools, absent any addi�onal 
development. The City and University both want to keep the Loop safe and vibrant. 

o Ch 3, Page 93: Develop aCollaborate with Washington University to improve upon their exis�ng “Good 
Neighbor ini�a�ve” for college students living in University City neighborhoods.* A significant number of 
college students live in University City neighborhoods, some�mes resul�ng in conflict between students 
and other residents. Fostering a sense of belonging, as well as a sense of responsibility to contribute 
posi�vely to the places where they live, can help to minimize that fric�on. Many university communi�es 
have “Good Neighbor ini�a�ves” that could be models for University City. These ini�a�ves are focused 
on engaging students in posi�ve conversa�ons with police and local government, providing a chance for 
civic involvement, and fostering ways for students and other neighbors to get to know each other in 
ways that can help to build posi�ve rela�onships. 
 *Add endnote reference to WashU’s neighborhood care program: Neighborhood Care & Off-

Campus Connect - Students (wustl.edu) 
o Ch 5: Remove “Developers” as Suppor�ng En��es for ac�ons under objec�ve A.4 
o Ch 5, Page 120: Move “Develop Recommenda�ons for Capital Improvement Plan” so that it occurs in 

March; Move “Inform Annual Budget Process” so that it occurs in February; move “Adopt Opera�ng 
Budget” to June. 

o Ch 5, Page 127: “Timeframe Key” should read “Timeframe Key (Target Dates for Comple�on)” 

https://students.wustl.edu/neighborhood-care/
https://students.wustl.edu/neighborhood-care/
mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



Page 2 of 6 

o Ch 5, Page 127: Below �meframe key legend, include: “Note: Addi�onal Suppor�ng En��es not listed 
may include local non-profit associa�ons, developers, and other local businesses 
 Note to Planning NEXT: Please also remove references to “Developers” and “Local nonprofit 

organiza�ons” in the matrix 
o Ch 5, Page 139: Develop aCollaborate with Washington University to improve upon their exis�ng “Good 

Neighbor ini�a�ve” for college students living in University City neighborhoods. 

 

mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



Page 3 of 6 

University City Comprehensive Plan Subcommitee Edits 
Approved by the Plan Commission at the 9/27/23 mee�ng. 

General changes: 

• Correct grammatical errors and page references throughout the plan
• Ensure uses of “City” (used to refer to the city government as an organization) and “city” (used

to refer to the overall community, geography, or place), are consistent
• Make minor formatting/layout adjustments for clarity and consistency
• Incorporate more photos from U City where possible
• Resolve cross references between action items in Chapter 3 and the Chapter 5 Matrix
• Make endnote references more legible
• Make all maps in the plan available at a higher resolution for download

Chapter 1 

4/159 Northeast Neighborhood Plan…”  1999 Comprehensive plan, the North East Northeast plan 
residents’s [plural vs. possessive} 

7/159 Paragraph 2 of text “…will con�nue to purchase con�nue to purchase property…?” 

7/159 Segrega�on:  “…white St. Louisans began leaving the city for St. Louis County’s growing suburban 
municipali�es [insert quote here] 

7/159 Second paragraph “…University City school bBoard of Educa�on 

8/159 Second paragraph “But it is was also a reflec�on of….” {Note: Prior paragraph uses present tense 
verbs except for Lewis quote.] 

8/159 “At six square…Vinita Park ; [Looks like an extra space here.]Wellston; and Pagedale…”  
[punctua�on should be consistent across list] 

8/159  “…Washington University inat St. Louis…” 

11/159   Delete paragraph below as the same paragraph appears at the botom of each column. 

“The comprehensive plan recognizes that regional condi�ons and trends will con�nue to impact how the 
city evolves. Through the plan, it is expected that local policies and projects will be coupled with efforts 
for regional collabora�on. These opportuni�es for collabora�on are embedded into many of the plan’s 
ac�ons described in Chapter 3.” 

Chapter 2 

16/159 Preparing the vision  “…Community Vision 2040 process and the Ffounda�onal documents…” 

16/159 ‘…considering first the outcomes of the Community Vision 2040 process and the fFounda�onal 
documents (see sec�on 1.1), including the Economic Development Strategy.  Then opportuni�es were 
explored and examined… 

mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



Page 4 of 6 

18/159 Round 1, second bullet “Surveys were also distributed to University City High School Students 
and through applica�ons to SHED’s home repair program. “ 

18/159  Shape the Future (third bullet) – There’s a reference to “The planning team” which has never 
been defined.  I think we’d be ahead simply saying Change to read  “The planning team and Advisory 
Commitee members shared…” 

Chapter 3 

29/159  Men�on that the legend is on the prior page, or include another version here. 

30/159  This is the first place we show ward boundaries and refer to them in the text, but there is no 
legend to show which ward is which.  [Note:  We do it on p 32] 

35/159  A.1.5  The map is now on p 31, not 27. 

36/159  A.2  “Ensure that cCity…” 

36/159  A.2.1  “..new cCity services…” 

36/159 A.3.1  “…development and maintenance of a more accurate..…” 

38/159 “…neighborhoods, increasing property values, and returning proper�es to tax rolls, and 
minimizing expenses for local government.  

39/159  Sidebar:  Include a references below for the asser�ons about higher revenues in the sidebar 
(Crea�ng Walkable Streets) 
 Economic Value of Walkability (vtpi.org)  
dot-economic-benefits-of-sustainable-streets.pdf (nyc.gov) 

47/159 Retail Performance “Therefore, from a revenue perspec�ve, driving more development…” 

49/159  B.1.3  “…The Interna�onal District presents an opportunity for development that supports the 
specific goal (3.4) in the EDS (3.4)  to promote this district…” 

54/159 Sidebar  “…This approach creates more flexibility, encourages redevelopment or re-use of 
exis�ng buildings, [add comma] and combats vacancy…” 

55/159 Traffic Volume – “The city has a network of county, city, state, and private, and unimproved…” 

Public Transporta�on – map is on p 59, not 58. 
Exis�ng and Planned Bikeway Infrastructure – map is on p 58, not 59 
Seems like these two maps should be reversed so they are in order of the test reference. 

62/159 “ Implement the City’s Bicycle & Pedestrian Master Plan and Complete Streets policy to ensure 
that University City streets are designed and operated to enable safe use and support mobility for all 
ci�zens. Special considera�on should be made for how ci�zens access areas of high pedestrian traffic 
(e.g., schools, parks, mul�family and re�ree housing), and neighborhood nodes (refer to Framework 
Map, see chapter 4, pg. 101).”  [Parentheses don’t match -two open, only one closed.  Thi is my guess on 
where the “orphan” needs to go, but I could be wrong.] 

https://www.vtpi.org/walkability.pdf
https://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/dot-economic-benefits-of-sustainable-streets.pdf
mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



Page 5 of 6 

66/159 C.4.3 Please remove quota�on marks around suppor�ng text. 

76/159  Flood Prone Areas…”  Data for flood inunda�on extent was provide by the University City 
Commissin on Storm Water Issues Commission…” 

80/159 E.1.3   Mark Harvey (Plan Commissioner): in rela�on to E.1.3, adjust suppor�ng text to: The City 
can promote missing middle housing by making these uses them permited uses in the zoning code and 
by easing requirements for upgrading and renova�ng exis�ng missing middle housing in the city. Special 
aten�on should be made to providing housing op�ons that fit into the city’s exis�ng neighborhoods in 
form and scale. To ensure these housing op�ons are built equitably, the City should collaborate with 
private subdivision trustees to align City codes and subdivision indentures. New housing should also 
integrate universal design standards to accommodate aging-in-place and provide op�ons for people of 
all physical abili�es. These types of housing should especially be encouraged in areas that are well 
served by transit. 

80/159 E.1.4”… moderniza�on. The City should connect resident property owners with repair services. 

82/158 E.2.1  Incen�ve programs working with a community development en�ty as described in Ac�on 
E.1.54. could also be explored targe�ng key neighborhoods or areas.

84/159  E.2.5  ii  Crea�ng of a renter protec�on program. 

iii adop�ng of a source of income discrimina�on ordinance. 

86/159  We revised E.36 E.3.5 in the implementa�on matrix (137/159) to read  “Incrementally convert 
high-flood risk areas into open spaces that are designed to accommodate stormwater, provided that 
maintenance and security can be addressed.”  This needs to match. 

91/159  F.1.3   “This collabora�on should include par�cipa�on in the Safer + Simpler St. Louis County 
ini�a�ve which…” 

92/159 F.2.1 Establish a joint branding strategy for The School District of University City [insert space 
here] and the City of University City. 

Chapter 4 

Chapter 5 

118/159  Regulatory Updates “…cChapter 4…”We  (capitalize everywhere else)  

119/159  Economic Incen�ves  “…Housing and Third Ward Revitaliza�on Task fForce…” 

124/159  A.5.1 and A.5.2  The descrip�on of Ac�vity Centers is now on p 109.  Please correct both 
references. 

130/159 “ Implement the City’s Bicycle & Pedestrian Master Plan and Complete Streets policy to ensure 
that University City streets are designed and operated to enable safe use and support mobility for all 
ci�zens. Special considera�on should be made for how ci�zens access areas of high pedestrian traffic 
(e.g., schools, parks, mul�family and re�ree housing), and neighborhood nodes (refer to Framework 
Map, see chapter 4, pg. 101).”  [Parentheses don’t match -two open, only one closed.  Thi is my guess on 
where the “orphan” needs to go, but I could be wrong.] 

mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



Page 6 of 6 

139/159    Objec�ve F3  We changed the text in the body (p93/159) to  

Develop addi�onal partnerships with Washington University to address areas of mutual interest. 

This needs to be consistent. 

139/159  F.4.2  Change this �meframe from O to S. 

140/159  F.5.1  Add  City Board & Commissions to Suppor�ng En��es 

142/159  Line spacing on 2040 Community Vision Roadmap Report is not consistent with the rest of the 
page. 

142/159 The descrip�on of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (2013) is the defini�on of the Delmar 
Loop Area Retail Plan & Redevelopment Strategy (2011). Please fix to the correct descrip�on. 

Appendix 1:  Add defini�on of Metropoli�an Sta�s�cal Area (MSA) 

mkennedy
Text Box
Attachment to September 27, 2023 Plan Commission Minutes



TXT-23-04 – Staff Memo 
Page 1 of 2 

Department of Planning and Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8500, Fax: (314) 862-3168 

MEMO 

Meeting Date October 25, 2023 

File Number TXT-23-04 

Council District n/a 

Applicant Subtext Acquisitions, LLC 

Request Approval of Text Amendment to sections 400.760, 400.780, 400.1190, 
and 400.2130 in the zoning code 

Comprehensive Plan Conformance: 
[ X ] Yes  [  ] No  [  ] No reference 

Staff Recommendation: 
[  ] Approval [ X ] Approval with Conditions   [  ] Denial 

Attachments: 
A. Proposed Text Amendment

Request 
The applicant, Subtext Acquisitions, LLC, is requesting approval of a text amendment to various sections 
of the zoning code. A recommendation and action are needed in advance of Plan Commission and City 
Council recommendation of REZ-23-02, an application for Planned Development – Mixed-Use. Below is a 
summary of each provision proposed to be amended and the purpose: 

• 400.760(D) – This subsection describes the permitted uses for Planned Development – Mixed-Use
(PD-M). Currently, there is no provision for allowing elevator-type dwellings with a floor area ratio
(FAR) of greater than three (3.0). The applicant is concurrently proposing a mixed-use
development (PD-M) with elevator-type dwellings and an overall FAR of 3.69. The proposed text
amendment would allow elevator-type dwellings with an FAR of greater than 3.0 to be designated
as permitted uses only through the PD-M procedure. The Plan Commission and City Council will
retain their authority to evaluate the appropriateness of the use and intensity and determine
whether to approve or deny, or approve with conditions, the use and intensity.

• 400.780(E) – This subsection describes the dimensional regulations for Planned Development –
Mixed-Use (PD-M). The proposed amendment would allow the Plan Commission and City Council
to waive perimeter buffer requirements (which can be up to 50 feet wide) for PD-M developments
specifically in the Delmar Loop, when deemed appropriate. This proposed amendment recognizes
that requiring such buffers can be burdensome for development in the Delmar Loop, where space
is limited, and that the buffers are not compatible with the character of the Delmar Loop. The
proposed amendment also defines the Delmar Loop for the purposes of the subsection.

• 400.1190(B) – This subsection requires an increase in setbacks (10’) and screening (privacy fence)
when residential developments or multi-family developments abut commercial uses. The



TXT-23-04 – Staff Memo 
Page 2 of 2 

Department of Planning and Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8500, Fax: (314) 862-3168 

proposed amendment would allow the Plan Commission and City Council to waive the increased 
setback and screening for developments in the Delmar Loop when deemed appropriate. Similar 
to the above reasoning, this proposed amendment recognizes that requiring increased setbacks 
and screening in the Delmar Loop is not consistent with the character of existing development in 
the Delmar Loop. The proposed amendment also defines the Delmar Loop for purposes of the 
subsection.  

• 400.2130 – This section sets forth various exceptions to the minimum off-street parking
requirements. The proposed amendment allows the Plan Commission and City Council to modify
the parking requirements for developments going through the Planned Development procedure
without also requiring a Conditional Use Permit (CUP). As currently written, most of the
exceptions in 400.2130 can only be granted with a CUP, even if a proposed development is already
going through the Planned Development process. The amendment would also allow the Plan
Commission and City Council to approve greater modification of parking requirements based on
evidence provided by the applicant, including industry data and analysis of parking demands for
the specific uses. While Planned Developments requesting modification to the parking
requirements would not be required to obtain a CUP for a parking reduction, they would still be
required to meet the CUP review criteria.

Process – Required City Approvals 
Plan Commission.  Section 400.3180 of the zoning code requires that the Plan Commission report to the 
City Council its recommendation on any application after receipt of the staff review report. The Zoning 
Administrator shall forward a copy of the Plan Commission's recommendation to the Historic Preservation 
Commission. 

City Council.  Section 400.3190 of the zoning code requires that text amendment applications be reviewed 
by City Council for final decision, subsequent to a recommendation from Plan Commission. The City 
Council shall hold a public hearing before acting on any application for amendment. 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the text amendment. 



ARTICLE IV, DISTRICT REGULATIONS, DIVISION 11 “PD” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 

Sec�on 400.760 Permited Uses. 

[R.O. 2011 §34-40.5; Ord. No. 6530 §1(part), 2005] 

A. Planned Development — Residen�al (PD-R). 
1. Permited land uses and developments shall be established in the condi�ons of the 

ordinance adopted by the City Council governing the par�cular planned development — 
residen�al district. Specific uses shall include only those uses designated as permited, 
accessory, or condi�onal uses in any of the residen�al districts. 

2. In addi�on to those uses included in Subsec�on (A)(1) of this Sec�on, the following uses may 
be designated as permited uses and established as such in the ordinance governing the 
par�cular planned development — residen�al district: 

a. Atached single-family dwellings; 
b. Pa�o dwellings; 
c. Zero lot line residen�al developments. 

B. Planned Development — Commercial (PD-C). Permited land uses and developments shall be 
established in the condi�ons of the ordinance adopted by the City Council governing the par�cular 
planned development — commercial district. Specific uses may only include those uses designated as 
permited, accessory, or condi�onal uses in the "LC", "GC" and "CC" commercial districts. 

C. Planned Development — Industrial Commercial (PD-I). Permited land uses and developments shall 
be established in the condi�ons of the ordinance adopted by the City Council governing the 
par�cular planned development — industrial commercial district. Specific uses may only include 
those uses designated as permited, accessory, or condi�onal uses in the "IC" Industrial Commercial 
District, and those uses in the "LC" or "GC" commercial districts, which are specifically related to the 
par�cular development. 

D. Planned Development — Mixed Use (PD-M). 
1. Permited land uses and developments shall be established in the condi�ons of the 

ordinance adopted by the City Council governing the par�cular planned development — 
mixed use district. Specific uses shall include those uses designated as permited, accessory, 
or condi�onal uses in any of the residen�al districts, and/or in the "LC", "GC" and "CC" 
commercial districts. 

2. In addi�on to those uses included in Subsec�on (D)(1) of this Sec�on, the following uses may 
be designated as permited uses and established as such in the ordinance governing the 
par�cular planned development — mixed use district: 

a. Atached single-family dwellings; 
b. Pa�o dwellings; 
c. Zero lot line residen�al developments. 
c.d. Dwellings, elevator-type, with a F.A.R. greater than three (3.0) 

3. It is an�cipated that the above uses will be combined in order to qualify as "PD-M" district. 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 1 of 10



ARTICLE IV, DISTRICT REGULATIONS, DIVISION 11 “PD” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 
 
Section 400.780 Density and Dimensional Regulations and Performance Standards. 
[R.O. 2011 §34-40.7; Ord. No. 6530 §1(part), 2005; Ord. No. 6740 §1, 2008] 

A. General Standards. The approval of the development plan may provide for such exceptions from the 
regulations associated with traditional zoning districts as may be necessary or desirable to achieve 
the objectives of the proposed planned development. No planned development shall be allowed 
which would result in: 

1. Inadequate or unsafe vehicular access to the development; 
2. Traffic volumes exceeding the capacity of the adjoining or nearby streets. Capacity shall be 

based on a street providing "level of service D" as defined in the latest publication of 
Transportation and Traffic Engineers Handbook, Institute of Transportation Engineers; 

3. An undue burden on public parks, recreation areas, schools, fire and police protection and 
other public facilities which serve or are proposed to serve the planned development; 

4. A failure to comply with the performance standards contained in Article V, Division 12 of this 
Chapter and the standards established for motor vehicle oriented businesses contained in 
Article XI, Section 400.2720 of this Chapter; or 

5. Other detrimental impacts on the surrounding area including, but not limited to, visual 
pollution. 
In addition to the requirements in this Section, all planned developments shall be subject to 
the review criteria established in Article XI, Section 400.2700 of this Chapter. It shall be the 
responsibility of the applicant to clearly establish that the requirements are met. 

B. Other Codes. All requirements of other codes and ordinances of the City (e.g., Building Code) shall be 
applicable. 

C. Planned Development — Residential (PD-R). 
1. Density. While the district regulations specify upper limits to residential density, density of a 

planned development may be limited to that which is established in the original residential 
district or which is consistent and compatible with nearby existing developed areas. 

2. Calculation of density. 
a. The computation of density shall be based on dwelling units per net acre for the 

entire site. 
b. To compute the number of dwelling units per net acre, fifteen percent (15%) of 

the gross acreage of the parcel shall be deducted and the net acreage divided by 
the lowest minimum lot size of the underlying residential district. 

3. Development phasing. If the sequence of construction of various portions of the 
development is to occur in stages, then the open space and/or recreational facilities shall be 
developed, or legally provided for on a final plat, in reasonable proportion to the number of 
dwelling units intended to be developed during any given stage of construction as approved 
on a final plat by the City Council. Furthermore, at no time during the construction of the 
project shall the number of constructed dwelling units per acre of developed land exceed 
the overall density per net acre established by the approved "PD-R" district. 

4. Non-residential uses in "PD-R" developments. non-residential uses are limited to those 
specifically listed in the residential zoning districts. Such non-residential uses shall be subject 
to all requirements for lot area, width, height, yards and setbacks prescribed in the district in 
which the proposed "PD-R" development is located. 

5. Common open space requirements. Common open space for "PD-R" developments shall be 
provided in accordance with the provisions of Article V "Supplementary Regulations", 
Section 400.1150 of the Zoning Code. 

6. Perimeter buffer requirements. 

https://ecode360.com/28293283#28293321
https://ecode360.com/28293615#28293615
https://ecode360.com/28294790#28294790
https://ecode360.com/28294836#28294836
https://ecode360.com/28294790#28294790
https://ecode360.com/28294807#28294807
https://ecode360.com/28293615#28293615
https://ecode360.com/28293757#28293757
mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 2 of 10



a. Where a "PD-R" development proposes residential development along the 
perimeter of the site, which is higher in density than that of an adjacent 
residentially zoned property, there shall be a minimum thirty (30) foot wide 
buffer area. The buffer area shall be kept free of buildings or structures and shall 
be landscaped or protected by natural features so that all higher-density 
residential buildings are effectively screened from the abutting lower-density 
residential property. 

b. Where a "PD-R" development abuts a commercial or industrial use or district, 
there shall be a minimum thirty (30) foot wide buffer area. This buffer area 
shall be permanent and landscaped and/or otherwise provided with screening 
(i.e., sight-proof fencing) so as to effec�vely screen the commercial or 
industrial use from the "PD-R" development. 

D. Planned Development — Commercial Or Industrial Commercial ("PD-C" or "PD-I"). 
1. Site coverage. Total site coverage by uses permitted in the "PD-C" or "PD-I" districts shall be 

seventy percent (70%), except as permitted to be exceeded in accordance with 
Subsection (D)(2) of this Section. 

2. Site coverage bonus. The Plan Commission may recommend and the City Council may 
approve an increase in maximum site coverage from seventy percent (70%) up to ninety 
percent (90%). In order to qualify for this bonus, the development plan must demonstrate 
compliance with four (4) or more of the following performance criteria: 

a. Incorporate storm drainage detention/retention facilities as a site amenity; 
b. Install storm drainage detention facilities underground; 
c. Resolution or mitigation of existing off-site storm drainage problems (e.g., 

drainage channel erosion); 
d. Increasing parking lot landscaping by fifty percent (50%) more than otherwise 

required; 
e. Submitting for approval developments on tracts that are five (5) or more acres in 

size; 
f. Design of principal access to the development tract at an approved location that 

allows for shared access by an adjacent property; 
g. Construction of separate-grade pedestrian and bicycle paths; 
h. Providing for screened loading and unloading areas; 
i. Providing for mixed-use developments that include community facilities that 

further the goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 
j. Demonstration of a development using innovative architectural, site planning and 

land use design and of such quality as to set an excellent example for subsequent 
development or redevelopment projects; 

k. Any other performance criteria that further the goals, objectives and policies of 
the Comprehensive Plan and that, in the opinion of the Plan Commission and City 
Council, warrant the approval of development bonuses. 

3. Signage. Signage shall be in compliance with Article VIII "Sign Regulations" of this Chapter 
unless the applicant for a "PD-C" or "PD-I" district designation elects to submit a 
comprehensive sign plan in addition to the submission of other required development plan 
documents. The Plan Commission may recommend, and the City Council may approve, a 
comprehensive sign plan and such plan shall be made part of the ordinance approving the 
"PD" district. Such ordinance may contain conditions, requirements or standards regarding 
signs that may be stipulated by the City Council. Comprehensive sign plans approved under 
this Section shall be evaluated based upon the following criteria: 

a. Placement. All signs shall be placed where they are sufficiently visible and 
readable for their function. Factors to be considered shall include the purpose of 

https://ecode360.com/28293342#28293342
https://ecode360.com/28294482#28294482
mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 3 of 10



the sign, its location relative to traffic movement and access points, site features, 
structures and sign orientation relative to viewing distances and viewing angles. 

b. Quantity. The number of signs that may be approved within any development 
shall be no greater than that required to provide project identification and entry 
signs, internal circulation and directional information to destinations and 
development subareas and business identification. Factors to be considered shall 
include the size of the development, the number of development subareas, and 
the division or integration of sign functions. 

c. Size. All signs shall be no larger than necessary for visibility and readability. 
Factors to be considered in determining appropriate size shall include 
topography, volume of traffic, speed of traffic, visibility range, proximity to 
adjacent uses, amount of sign copy, placement of display (location and height), 
lettering style and the presence of distractive influences. In no event shall a plan 
contain a sign which exceeds by more than twice that of any maximum area 
standard contained in Article VIII "Sign Regulations" of this Chapter unless 
otherwise waived by the City Council. 

d. Materials. Sign materials shall be compatible with architectural and/or natural 
features of the project. This may be accomplished through similarity of materials 
for sign structures and faces, the use of complementary colors, similarity of 
architectural style or the use of consistent lettering style and typography. 
A request for approval for a comprehensive sign plan shall accompany the request 
for "PD-C" or "PD-I" zoning classification and shall include, but is not limited to, the 
following: 

1) A site plan depicting the proposed plan of development and illustration of 
proposed sign locations; 

2) Descriptions and drawings indicating size, qualities, materials and 
illumination; and 

3) A narrative description of the common theme for signage within the 
development, how it relates to architectural and/or landscaping elements 
of the development, and how the comprehensive sign plan relates to each 
of the criteria set forth in this Section. 

4. Perimeter buffer requirements. Where a "PD-C" or a "PD-I" development abuts a residential 
district, there shall be a minimum fifty (50) foot buffer area between any non-residential use 
and the adjacent residential district. This buffer area shall be landscaped in accordance with 
Article V "Supplementary Regulations", Division 6 of this Chapter. 

E. Planned Development — Mixed Use (PD-M).  
1. Unless otherwise stated in this Subsection, "PD-M" developments shall incorporate the 

regulations set forth in both Subsections dealing specifically with "PD-R" and "PD-C" 
developments. If an unresolved conflict between those regulations occurs (such as between 
common open space versus site coverage), the applicant shall set forth the reasons for such 
discrepancy and the proposed resolution. Any discrepancies between the two (2) sets of 
regulations and the resolution thereof shall be set forth in the map amendment ordinance 
and/or the resolution approving the development. The resolution thereof shall be pursuant 
to staff recommendation or as set forth by the Plan Commission in the map amendment 
ordinance. 

5.2. Perimeter buffer requirements. Where a “PD-M” development is proposed in the Delmar 
Loop, perimeter buffer requirements may be waived if the general standards set forth in 
400.780(A) are satisfied, and if the “PD-M” developer incorporates natural or architectural 
features to minimize adverse visual effects between any uses which would otherwise 
require perimeter buffers per Subsections 400.780(C) and (400.780(D) above. For the 

https://ecode360.com/28294482#28294482
https://ecode360.com/28293615#28293615
mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 4 of 10



purposes of this Subsection, the “Delmar Loop” shall refer to properties which have frontage 
along Delmar Boulevard and which are located between Kingsland Avenue and the eastern 
boundary of University City. 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 5 of 10



ARTICLE V SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS, DIVISION 6 LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS 

Sec�on 400.1190 Screening Between Non-Residen�al and Residen�al Zoning Districts. 

[R.O. 2011 §34-60.2; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997; Ord. No. 7003 §1, 12-14-2015] 

A. In situa�ons where a non-residen�al use is established abu�ng or adjacent to residen�ally zoned 
property, the developer of the non-residen�al use shall provide the following screening within the 
required rear and/or side yard building setback areas: 

1. Within this setback, there shall be a landscaped buffer area not less than ten (10) feet in 
width planted with one (1) evergreen tree for every twenty (20) lineal feet of common 
property line. In addi�on, combina�ons of canopy trees, ornamental trees and shrubs shall 
be provided as approved by the Zoning Administrator, provided that such landscaping will 
effec�vely screen the non-residen�al uses from the view of the abu�ng residen�al zoned 
proper�es. 

2. In addi�on, there shall be placed at the property line a neat, clean and maintained sight-
proof fence or wall having a minimum height of six (6) feet but not more than eight (8) feet. 
Where a loading area or access drive thereto is within thirty-five (35) feet of residen�ally 
zoned property, the fence shall be eight (8) feet in height. 

Excep�on. The above requirements shall not apply to development within the "CC" District. 

B. In situa�ons where a residen�al subdivision (more than three (3) lots) or other mul�ple dwelling unit 
development is constructed on a site that is abu�ng or adjacent to commercial or an "IC" zoned lot, 
the developer of the residen�al subdivision or development shall provide the following increase in 
setbacks and screening: 

1. The minimum setback for the principal residen�al buildings shall be increased by ten (10) 
feet along the common property line separa�ng the residen�al and commercial or "IC" 
Zoning District. A permanent buffer strip of a minimum of ten (10) feet shall be established 
adjacent to and parallel to said common property line(s). This strip shall be indicated on the 
approved subdivision plat and/or development plan and annotated with the following 
statement: "This strip is reserved for landscape screening. The placement of buildings or 
other structures hereon is prohibited." 

2. Within this buffer strip, there shall be a landscaped area planted with one (1) evergreen tree 
for every twenty (20) lineal feet of common property line. In addi�on, combina�ons of 
canopy trees, ornamental trees and shrubs shall be provided as approved by the Zoning 
Administrator, provided that such landscaping will effec�vely screen the non-residen�al uses 
from the view of the abu�ng residen�al zoned proper�es. 

3. In addi�on, there shall be placed at the property line a neat, clean and maintained sight-
proof fence or wall having a minimum height of six (6) feet, but not more than eight (8) feet. 
 

Excep�on. The above requirements in this Subsec�on may be waived for developments in 
the Delmar Loop. For the purposes of this Subsection, the “Delmar Loop” shall refer to 
properties which have frontage along Delmar Boulevard and which are located between 
Kingsland Avenue and the eastern boundary of University City. 

C. In situa�ons where a mul�-family residen�al use, including a townhouse apartment, garden 
apartment, or elevator apartment development, is established abu�ng or adjacent to a property in 
the "SR" or "LR" Zoning District, the developer of the mul�family residen�al use shall provide the 
following screening within the required rear and/or side yard building setback areas: 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 6 of 10



1. Within this setback, there shall be a landscaped buffer area of not less ten (10) feet in width 
planted with one (1) evergreen tree for every twenty (20) lineal feet of common property 
line. In addi�on, combina�ons of canopy trees, ornamental trees, and shrubs shall be 
provided as approved by the Zoning Administrator, provided that such landscaping will 
effec�vely screen the mul�-family residen�al uses from the view of the abu�ng "SR" or "LR" 
zoned property. 

2. In situa�ons where the requirements set forth in Subsec�on (c)(1) do not effec�vely screen 
the mul�-family residen�al uses from the adjacent residen�al proper�es, there shall be 
placed at the property line a neat, clean and maintained sight-proof fence or wall having a 
height of six (6) feet as otherwise approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 7 of 10



ARTICLE VII, OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS, DIVISION 4 MINIMUM REQUIRED OFF-
STREET PARKING AND LOADING SPACES 

Sec�on 400.2130 Excep�ons To The Minimum Off-Street Parking and Loading Space Requirements. 

[R.O. 2011 §34-94.1; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997; Ord. No. 6401 §1(part), 2002; Ord. No. 6989 § 1, 
4-27-2015; Ord. No. 7100, 4-8-2019; Ord. No. 7117, 11-25-2019] 

A. Excep�on For Places Of Worship. On-site parking facili�es required for places of worship may be 
reduced by not more than fi�y percent (50%) where such facili�es are located in a non-residen�al 
district and within five hundred (500) feet of public or private parking lots having sufficient spaces to 
make up for the reduc�on. The use of an off-site public parking lot may only be authorized under the 
condi�onal use permit procedure (see Ar�cle XI). The use of an off-site private parking lot shall 
comply with Sec�on 400.2010(B)(1), and be subject to the approval of the Zoning Administrator. 

B. Excep�on For Change Of Use Of Exis�ng Commercial Buildings. A reduc�on in the number of required 
off-street parking and loading spaces for the reuse of a commercial building, exis�ng prior to the 
effec�ve date of this Chapter, may be authorized under the condi�onal use permit procedure. (see 
Ar�cle XI), subject to the following condi�ons: 

1. The reduc�on shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the off-street parking space 
requirements for the proposed use; 

2. No reduc�on shall be made in the amount of exis�ng available off-street parking spaces on-
site; 

3. The proposed use does not involve an expansion of the building that would result in 
addi�onal parking or loading space requirements; 

4. Notwithstanding compliance with other standards contained in this Ar�cle (e.g., setbacks 
and landscaping), any por�on of the site that can be reasonably converted to off-street 
parking shall be so used to sa�sfy a por�on of the parking requirement; and 

5. The reduc�on shall not result in spill-over parking on adjacent or nearby proper�es. In 
making its determina�on, the Plan Commission and City Council shall consider informa�on 
on the parking and loading demand associated with the proposed use as presented by the 
applicant and City staff. 

C. Excep�on Where Public Parking Is Allocated For Use. The City Council may allow a reduc�on in the 
number of on-site parking spaces required when the building served by such parking is located within 
five hundred (500) feet of a public parking facility or lot, provided a fee is paid to the City for pro rata 
share of the cost of construc�ng and maintaining such facility or lot. 

D. Excep�on For Shared Parking Arrangements. Shared parking is an arrangement in which two (2) or 
more uses with different peak parking periods (hours of opera�on) use the same off-street parking 
spaces to meet their off-street parking requirements. Up to one hundred percent (100%) of the 
parking required for one (1) use may be supplied by the off-street parking spaces provided for 
another use. 

1. By condi�onal use permit, a reduc�on in the number of parking spaces may be authorized. 
In issuing a condi�onal use permit, the City will consider whether the uses: 

a. Are located within five hundred (500) feet as the crow flies of the shared parking as 
measured from the entrance of the use to the nearest point on the property; 

b. Have no substan�al conflict in the principal opera�ng hours of the uses for which 
the sharing of parking is proposed (see shared parking table in Sec�on 
400.2130(D)(3) as a guide); 

c. Do not adversely affect surrounding neighborhoods; 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 8 of 10



d. Do not adversely affect traffic conges�on and circula�on; and 
e. Have a posi�ve effect on the economic viability or appearance of the project or on 

the environment. 
f. Relieved spaces or off-site shared parking spots cannot be located within the SR, LR, 

MR or HR Zoning Districts. 
2. Applica�on Requirements For Shared Parking. As a part of the applica�on materials required 

for a condi�onal use permit, the applicant seeking shared parking shall submit to the Zoning 
Administrator the following informa�on as a part of the condi�onal use permit applica�on: 

a. Proof that the uses of the shared spaces will reflect different peak hours of 
opera�on at different �mes of the day, week, month or year (see shared parking 
table below); 

b. Proof of the size and types of proposed development or substan�al changes, size 
and type of ac�vi�es, composi�on of tenants, rate of turnover for parking spaces, 
and an�cipated peak parking and traffic loads; 

c. Proof that the route from required ADA-accessible spaces in the shared parking area 
to the nearest ADA-accessible entrance follows an accessible route as defined by the 
most recent ADA standards; 

d. An agreement providing for the shared use of parking areas, executed by the par�es 
involved, including owners of record, that shall include provisions for maintenance, 
snow removal, ownership, liability and dura�on of the agreement, and must be filed 
with the Department of Planning and Development in a form approved by the 
Planning and Development Director. 

3. Shared Parking Table. The following table shall be used to determine peak hours of opera�on 
for proposed shared parking. Parking requirements shall be the cumula�ve requirements of 
the uses sharing the parking, except where different categories of uses (retail or service, 
employment, civic, or dwellings) are par�cipa�ng in the sharing agreement and are likely to 
generate dis�nctly different �mes of peak parking demand. Each use should provide a 
percentage of parking required by these regula�ons according to the shared parking table 
below. Whichever �me period column requires the highest total parking spaces among the 
various uses should be the amount of parking provided subject to the shared parking 
agreement and Plan Commission review. Alterna�ve parking alloca�ons may be approved as 
a func�on of the condi�onal use permit based on industry data or other sufficient evidence 
and analysis of peak parking demands for specific uses. 

4. Dura�on Of Agreement. Shared parking privileges will con�nue in effect only as long as the 
agreement, binding on all par�es, remains in force. Agreements must guarantee long-term 
availability of the parking, commensurate with the use served by the parking. 

5. Recording Of Agreement. The agreements must be recorded with the County Recorder. If the 
uses of either party changes, the CUP is no longer valid unless the Zoning Administrator 
authorizes the new uses and determines there is compliance with the shared parking table 
[Sec�on 400.2130(D)(3)]. If a shared parking agreement lapses or is no longer valid, then 
parking must be provided as otherwise required by this Ar�cle. 

6. Revoca�on Of Permits. Failure to comply with the shared parking provisions of the shared 
parking plan shall cons�tute a viola�on of the Zoning Code and shall be cause for revoca�on 
of a cer�ficate of zoning compliance and/or building permit. 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 9 of 10



E. Excep�on For Uses Located Near Transit Sta�ons And Stops. For uses located within five hundred 
(500) feet of a public transit sta�on or stop, the off-street parking requirements may be reduced by 
ten percent (10%). The Loop Trolley stops and sta�ons shall not be included in this excep�on. 

F. (pending TXT-23-03) 
F.G. Excep�on For Planned Developments. With the recommenda�on of the Plan Commission and 

approval by the City Council, and based on evidence including, but not limited to, industry data or 
other sufficient evidence and analysis of parking demands for the specific uses, there may be 
modifica�ons to the off-street parking requirements through the Planned Development (PD) 
procedure. Planned Developments reques�ng modifica�on from the off-street parking requirements 
shall be required meet the review criteria for condi�onal use permit approval set forth in 400.2710 
and may be subject to addi�onal condi�ons when the requested modifica�on has the poten�al for 
adverse impacts. 

mkennedy
Text Box
TXT-23-04 - Proposed Text Amendment (Attachment)Page 10 of 10



Department of Planning and Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8500, Fax: (314) 862-3168 

STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date October 25, 2023 

File Number REZ-23-02 

Council District 1 

Location 6630, 6640, 6650, 6654 Delmar Boulevard 

Applicant Subtext Acquisitions, LLC 

Property Owner 6630, 6650 Delmar Blvd: Commerce Bank 
6640, 6654 Delmar Blvd: Washington University in St. Louis 

Request Map Amendment from Core Commercial (CC) to Planned Development – 
Mixed-Use (PD-M) and to further consider approval of a Preliminary 
Development Plan 

Comprehensive Plan Conformance: 
[ X ] Yes  [  ] No  [  ] No reference 

Staff Recommendation: 
[  ] Approval [ X ] Approval with Conditions [  ] Denial 

Attachments: 
A. Application
B. Property Owner Authorizations
C. Narrative
D. Site Plans
E. Architectural Plans & Renderings
F. Landscape Plans
G. Traffic Impact Study
H. Parking Sufficiency Memo

Applicant Request 
The applicant, Subtext, LLC, is requesting a Map Amendment rezoning from Core Commercial (CC) to 
Planned Development Mixed-Use (PD-M) and further approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 
mixed-use development at 6630-6654 Delmar Boulevard. The development would include 329 dwelling 
units and approximately 8,000 square feet of retail/restaurant space.  

Existing Property 
The subject property consists of four parcels located at 6630, 6640, 6650, and 6654 Delmar Boulevard. 
There are two existing commercial buildings on the property, one of which is a one-story former 
Commerce Bank retail location with additional retail and restaurant tenant space. The Commerce Bank 



REZ-23-02 
Page 2 of 7 

building was originally built in 1953, according to St. Louis County Assessor data. The other existing 
building is the former Craft Alliance building, built in 1930. Commerce Bank owns a majority of the 
property (6630 and 6650 Delmar), and Washington University owns the Craft Alliance site (6640 Delmar) 
and the small parcel adjacent to it (6654 Delmar). Both buildings on the property are vacant, and 
remaining areas of the parcels are occupied by parking lots. There is on-street parking available on three 
sides of the property (Delmar, Leland, and Loop South). 
 
The entire property is zoned Core Commercial (CC) and consists of 1.98 acres. Neither of the existing 
buildings are designated historic sites nor is any part of the property in a historic district. However, the 
site is within 300 feet of three historic districts: University City Civic Complex Historic District (Local), 
Delmar Loop – Parkview Gardens Historic District (National), and Parkview Historic District (Local). When 
properties are within 300 feet of a historic district, the code requires building permits to be forwarded to 
the Historic Preservation Commission for interpretation, advice and recommendations. No part of the 
property is within a floodplain. 
 

 
 
 

Existing Zoning & Land Use Surrounding Zoning & Land Use 

Existing Zoning:  Core Commercial (CC) North: Core Commercial (CC); Elevator 
apartments, restaurant, retail 

Existing Land Use: Vacant (formerly occupied by 
bank, retail, and restaurant) 

East: Core Commercial (CC); Retail, 
restaurant, and office 

Proposed Zoning: Planned Development – Mixed-
Use (PD-M) 

South: High Density Residential (HR); 
Elevator apartments, garden 
apartments, attached single-
family, single-family 

Proposed Land Use: Mixed-use: residential (elevator 
apartments, townhomes), retail, 
restaurant 

West: Core Commercial (CC); Retail, 
restaurant 



REZ-23-02 
Page 3 of 7 

Surrounding Zoning 

 
Analysis 
Land Use and Zoning 
The proposed development includes 329 dwelling units, 3,644 square feet of restaurant space, and 4,466 
square feet of retail space. Of the 329 dwelling units, 319 are elevator-type dwellings on the floors above 
ground level: 54 studios, 49 one-bedroom units, 140 two-bedroom units, and 76 three-bedroom units. 
The remaining ten dwelling units are two-story town-house dwellings with two bedrooms and two 
bathrooms each, with direct access from the ground level and internal access from inside the building.  
 
The above uses are considered permitted uses in the Planned Development – Mixed-Use District per 
§400.760(D). However, the zoning code does not currently address elevator-type dwellings that exceed a 
floor area ratio (FAR) of 3.0. As currently proposed, the overall FAR of the mixed-use building is 3.69. 
Therefore, a Text Amendment would be required to permit an elevator-type dwelling with an FAR greater 
than 3.0 (see concurrently proposed TXT-23-04). 
 
Dimensional Regulations 
PD-M developments are subject to the dimensional regulations set forth for Planned Development – 
Residential (PD-R) and Planned Development – Commercial (PD-C), and if there is an unresolved conflict 
between the PD-R and PD-C regulations, those discrepancies are required to be explained and a resolution 
proposed. In addition, there are relevant dimensional regulations in Article V, Division 4 (Supplementary 
Residential Development Standards) and Article V, Division 6 (Landscaping and Screening Requirements). 
The proposed PD-M development meets the dimensional regulations in the code sections listed above, 
with two exceptions that are described below. 
 
 

Subject Property 

Municipal 
Lot 4 

U City Library 

Post 
Office Vintage 

Vinyl 



REZ-23-02 
Page 4 of 7 

1. Conflict with Perimeter Buffer Requirements per §400.780(C)(6)(b) and §400.780(D)(4) 
PD-R and PD-C developments require perimeter buffers in certain situations. PD-R 
developments require a 30-foot-wide buffer when abutting a commercial or industrial use or 
zoning district. Abutting is defined in Article II Definitions as “having a common border with, 
or being separated from such a common border by a right-of-way or easement for a street, 
alley, pedestrian way, utilities or storm drainage.” By this definition, the proposed PD-M 
development abuts commercial uses and zoning districts at its west, north, and east property 
lines. Therefore, the 30-foot-wide buffer would be required along those three sides of the 
property. Additionally, PD-C developments require a 50-foot-wide buffer when abutting a 
residential zoning district. Therefore, the proposed PD-M development would require a 50-
wide buffer along its south property line where it abuts a High Density Residential (HR) zoning 
district, with the Loop South right-of-way in between. These buffers require dense 
landscaping and screening between the abutting uses/zoning districts.  

With the above requirements, the development would require buffers on all four sides of the 
property, decreasing the buildable area of the property from 86,297 square feet of total lot 
area to 39,227 square feet of buildable lot area (54.5% reduction). It is staff’s opinion that 
these buffers are not appropriate for the proposed development for three reasons. First, the 
required buffers are not consistent with the existing character of the Delmar Loop and 
abutting properties. Second, requiring a 30-foot-wide buffer at the north and east property 
lines (fronting Delmar and Leland) with landscaping and permanent screening from the 
“abutting” commercial uses across Delmar and Leland, would block visibility into the 
proposed ground floor retail and restaurant storefronts. This screening would have adverse 
impacts on maintaining and promoting an active streetscape that supports retail and 
restaurant businesses. Finally, the buffers would significantly limit buildable area and could 
potentially threaten the economic feasibility of redeveloping the subject property. 

Therefore, a Text Amendment is recommended to address these perimeter buffer conflicts 
(see concurrently proposed TXT-23-04). 

2. Conflict with Landscaping & Screening Requirements per §400.1190(B)(1) 
Article V, Division 6 (Landscaping and Screening Requirements) of the zoning code requires 
an increase in setbacks (10-foot increase) and screening (dense evergreen tree plantings and 
a minimum 6-foot-tall privacy fence) when multi-family developments abut commercial 
zoning districts. It is staff’s opinion that these requirements are not appropriate for the 
proposed development for similar reasons described above for the perimeter buffer conflict. 

Therefore, a Text Amendment is recommended to address these increased landscaping and 
screening conflicts (see concurrently proposed TXT-23-04). 

 
Finally, Article V, Division 4 (Supplementary Residential Development Standards) sets forth additional 
dimensional regulations for elevator-type dwellings and town-house dwellings. A few of the standards set 
forth in this Division of the zoning code are not met by the proposed development. However, deviation 
from the strict application of these supplementary residential standards is permitted under the provisions 
of a planned development per §400.1110. The purpose of planned development districts is to: 

“provide a means of achieving greater flexibility in development of land in a manner not always 
possible in conventional zoning districts; to encourage a more imaginative and innovative design 
of projects; to promote a more desirable community environment; and to retain maximum control 
over both the design and future operation of the development.” (§400.720(A)) 



REZ-23-02 
Page 5 of 7 

Off-Street Parking Requirements 
Without any of the reductions allowed in the zoning code, the proposed development requires a total of 
699 parking spaces, 607 of which are required for the residential uses, 20 for visitors of the building’s 
residents, 49 for the restaurant use, and 23 for the retail use. The applicant is requesting a reduction in 
the required number of parking spaces to a total of 379 parking spaces (1 per dwelling unit plus 50 spaces 
for the retail, restaurant, and visitor parking combined).  
 
As currently written in the zoning code, reductions in parking (or exceptions to the minimum number of 
required parking spaces) can be granted through a few provisions. These include when a development is 
within 500 feet of a transit stop/station (10% reduction); shared parking arrangements (when different 
uses have different peak parking periods); when public parking is allocated for the development (with a 
fee per parking space allocated); and/or through Conditional Use Permit (up to 20% reduction).  
 
In late 2019, the Plan Commission recommended, and City Council approved, the removal of a provision 
exempting redevelopments (including the construction of new buildings) in the Core Commercial (CC) 
zoning district from meeting the minimum number of required parking spaces. The original intent of this 
provision was to encourage redevelopment in the Delmar Loop and promote a walkable environment. 
When the provision was removed, the intent was to “effectively address the negative impacts of excessive 
on-street parking demands” (staff memo to City Council). Since 2019, no new construction 
redevelopments have been approved in the Delmar Loop. This trend may be a sign that the City’s parking 
standards can be a deterrent in the Delmar Loop, where space is tight and the proximity of restaurants, 
shops, and entertainment venues, and overall walkable environment are one of its main attractions. 
 
The existing provisions for parking reduction are not sufficient to approve the proposed number of parking 
spaces (329). Therefore, a Text Amendment would be necessary to permit the proposed reduction in 
parking spaces (see proposed TXT-23-04). TXT-23-04 would create a provision that allows modification of 
the off-street parking requirements through the Planned Development procedure if the modification 
meets the conditional use permit review criteria set forth in §400.2710. The applicant has included with 
their application a parking sufficiency memo from CBB Transportation Engineers stating that the proposed 
number of parking spaces meets the average parking demand. This opinion is based on parking demand 
data from the Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Parking General Manual for the proposed uses. 
 
It is staff’s opinion that the CUP review criteria are satisfied for the requested modification to the parking 
requirements, and that the reduction in the required parking would be appropriate, given the following: 

• CBB Transportation Engineer’s parking sufficiency memo (attached) 
• Good access to public transportation:  

o 14-minute walk to University City-Big Bend MetroLink Station (Blue Line) 
o 15-minute walk to Delmar Loop MetroLink station (Red Line) 
o 0-minute walk to bus stop for MetroBus Route 97 (connections to Downtown St. Louis 

and Downtown Clayton) 
o 4-minute walk to bus stop for MetroBus Route 5 (connections to Washington University 

facilities) 
• Highly walkable location (Walk Score of 90 – “Walker’s Paradise”) 
• Bicycle friendly location (Bike Score of 70 – “Very Bikeable”) 
• Regional and national trends towards more flexible parking requirements, especially in denser, 

mixed-use environments. For example, neighborhoods such as Forest Park Southeast in St. Louis 
limit how much off-street parking a developer can build to one space per dwelling unit (regardless 
of the number of bedrooms), with the intent of encouraging density and foot traffic to support 



REZ-23-02 
Page 6 of 7 

businesses, amenities, and services in the neighborhood. 
 
Bicycle Parking  
The proposed development appears to provide sufficient off-street bicycle parking spaces per §400.2145. 
A dedicated bicycle storage room is provided on the ground floor with direct access from the sidewalk 
along Leland Avenue. 
 
Loading 
Off-street loading spaces have been provided per the requirements set forth in §400.2150. 
 
Site Coverage 
Planned Development – Commercial (PD-C) developments are limited to a site coverage of 70%, but if the 
proposed development can demonstrate compliance with four or more of the performance criteria set 
forth in §400.780(D)(2), site coverage can be increased to 90% maximum. The proposed development has 
86.6% site coverage. Site coverage is defined in the zoning code as “the area of the site which is covered 
by buildings, driveways, parking lots, loading areas, but excluding open spaces, plazas, pedestrian 
circulation, and buffer areas.” The applicant has demonstrated compliance with the following criteria: 

• Install storm drainage detention facilities underground 
• Providing for screened loading and unloading areas 
• Providing for mixed-use developments that include community facilities that further the goals, 

objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan 
• Demonstration of a development using innovative architectural, site planning and land use design 

and of such quality as to set an excellent example for subsequent development or redevelopment 
projects 

  
2005 Comprehensive Plan 
The future land use map of the Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as “Mixed-Use/Transit 
Oriented Development”. The intended land uses for this category include a combination of commercial, 
professional and/or residential uses should occur or be encouraged. Land use activities in “Mixed-
Use/Transit Oriented Development” should be neighborhood serving or community serving; mixed uses 
may be a single building, a group of buildings or a multiple block district. The proposed use of the subject 
property is consistent with the purpose and intent of this land use category.  
 
2023 Comprehensive Plan 
The 2023 Comprehensive Plan was unanimously adopted by the Plan Commission by resolution on 
September 27, 2023. Once approved by the City Council, the 2023 Comprehensive Plan will go into full 
effect and will replace the 2005 Comprehensive Plan. The proposed development furthers the 2023 plan’s 
emphasis on encouraging denser, mixed-use development, particularly in Activity Centers, and reducing 
parking requirements where appropriate. The future character and land use map of the 2023 plan 
identifies the subject property as an “Activity Center” and is within the “Loop Activity Center Overlay”. 
The uses and character of the proposed development are consistent with both place types. 
 
Previously Held Public Meetings for the Proposed Development 
Below is a summary of previously held public meetings and events to obtain feedback on the proposed 
development from City Boards & Commissions and neighboring residents. 

• July 26, 2023 – Plan Commission working session 
• August 11, 2023 – Community open-house event 
• September 19, 2023 – Community open-house event  



REZ-23-02 
Page 7 of 7 

• September 27, 2023 – Plan Commission working session  
• October 10, 2023 – Loop Special Business District Board meeting 
• October 11, 2023 – Traffic Commission meeting 

 
 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the Map Amendment and Preliminary Development Plan as presented in 
the attached documents, with the following condition: 
 

1. The recommendation is contingent upon City Council approval of TXT-23-04. 









 

  

 

LOCAL University City  Zoning Amendment Narrative and Supplemental information 

Project Narrative / Proposed Construction: 

The proposed building is a 7-story multifamily mixed used building with  +/‐ 300,000 GSF of 

residential with +/- 8,000 GSF of retail/restaurant use. There will be 329 residential units served 

by a parking garage. The site will provide 100 public and residential secured bike racks.  The 

site work will include new street curbs, sidewalks and access to the parking garage off of Loop 

Street for both retail and residential parking. Enhanced streetscape including trees and 

planting areas with street lighting along Delmar to be consistent with the Delmar Loop existing 

lighting design. The stormwater on this site will be held in an underground detention to reduce 

storm water run off per MSD recommendations. 

  

Site Coverage: 

The proposed site coverage is 86.6%, which requires 4 of the bonus criteria to be met. This site 

meets the following:  

o b. Install storm drainage detention facilities underground; 

o Storm water will be held in an underground storm detention. 

o c. Resolution or mitigation of existing off-site storm drainage problems (e.g., drainage channel 

erosion); 

o The project will address off site storm by decreasing the surface runoff from the site. 

o h. Providing for screened loading and unloading areas;  

o All loading areas will be within the building.  

o i. Providing for mixed-use developments that include community facilities that further the goals, 

objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 

o Design of the current expansion/improvement of the sidewalk & bus stop area. 

o k. Any other performance criteria that further the goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive 

Plan and that, in the opinion of the Plan Commission and City Council, warrant the approval of 

development bonuses.  

o The project will enhance the neighborhood by providing a vibrant active street with retail 

and townhome style units, that foster mixed-use nodes of activity and a variety of housing 

types.  



 

Proposed Development Schedule 

Development Plan and Zoning change: October 2023-January 2024 

Building Permit application: April 2024 

Construction: June 2024-June 2026  





TOTAL TRACT

LE
LA

N
D

 (5
5'

w
) A

VE
.

S. LOOP STREET

DELMAR (80'w)  BLVD.

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

D
EL

M
AR

 B
O

U
LE

VA
R

D
 &

 L
EL

AN
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
31

30

LO
CA

L 
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

/P
LA

T 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

66
00

\2
19

66
81

\6
68

1.
3\

C
iv

il\
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y\
66

81
.3

_b
as

e.
dw

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
02

.0
-E

XI
ST

IN
G

 A
LT

A 
SU

R
VE

Y 
 P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 1
1,

  2
02

3 
- 1

1:
23

am
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 jo

sh
.b

ar
cu

s

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

EXISTING ALTA
SURVEY

C2.0



TOTAL TRACT

PARKING
521'

BIKE &
STORAGE

RETAIL
TRASH/
BOH

TRASH

1,216 SF
RETAIL

3,249 SF
RETAIL

3,646SF
RESTAURANT

5,230 SF
RESIDENTIAL

LOADING

527 SF
LOBBY

TRASH

BOH

PET SPAFE
N

CE
D 

DO
G 

RU
N

(IR
RI

GA
TE

D 
TU

RF
)

ENTRY
PORTAL/

VESTIBULE

3,071 SF
LOBBY

2,434 SF
PATIO

(140 BIKES)

LE
LA

N
D

 (5
5'

w
) A

VE
.

S. LOOP STREET

DELMAR (80'w)  BLVD.

CURB INLET.
(TRAPPED)
T 520.36
FL 514.36

MANHOLE
T 517.25
FL 499.71

MANHOLE
T 517.38
FL(w) 502.46
FL(e) 497.57

MANHOLE
T 514.12
FL 498.92

PROPOSED
SEWER

EASEMENT

N

S

EW

CURB INLET.
(TRAPPED)
T 518.08
FL(s)  511.19
FL(w) 509.37

MANHOLE
T 517.50
FL(w) 508.74
FL(s) 499.68

MANHOLE
T 521.95

FL 512.60
3

MANHOLE
T 520.60
FL 508.17

2

1

4

5

6

7
8

MANHOLE
T 518.15
FL 512.19

9

EX1

EX2

SAND/OIL
SEPARATOR

FOR INTERNAL
GARAGE DRAINS

POOL DRAIN
LATERALSAMPLING

MANHOLE

RESIDENTIAL
SANITARY
LATERAL

COMMERCIAL
SANITARY
LATERAL

COMMERCIAL
SANITARY
LATERAL

RESIDENTIAL
SANITARY

LATERAL

TAP PER MAWC
STANDARDS.

8" FULL FLOW
FIRE METER

PROPOSED ELECTRIC
FEED. COORDINATE WITH

AMEREN.

PROPOSED
UNDERGROUND

DETENTION
(FLOOD PROTECTION &
CHANNEL PROTECTION)

RELOCATED PUBLIC
COMBINED SEWER

RELOCATED PUBLIC
COMBINED SEWER

RELOCATED PUBLIC
COMBINED SEWER

RELOCATED PUBLIC
COMBINED SEWER

EXISTING GRANITE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

EXISTING CONCRETE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

EXISTING CONCRETE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

ACCESSIBLE RAMPS
@ DRIVEWAYS
(TYPICAL)

BIKE RACK
(TYP)

SIDEWALK PLANTING
AREA. SEE PLANTING

PLAN

CONCRETE PAVERS
AT RETAIL PATIO

EXISTING POST TOP
STREET LIGHTS TO
BE REINSTALLED.

ST. LOUIS WALK OF
FAME STAR PLACARD

(TYP)

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

D
EL

M
AR

 B
O

U
LE

VA
R

D
 &

 L
EL

AN
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
31

30

LO
CA

L 
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

/P
LA

T 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

66
00

\2
19

66
81

\6
68

1.
3\

C
iv

il\
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y\
66

81
.3

_b
as

e.
dw

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
03

.0
-P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y-

FI
N

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

  P
LO

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

1,
  2

02
3 

- 1
1:

23
am

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 jo
sh

.b
ar

cu
s

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

PRELIMINARY
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

C3.0



N-S SITE SECTION
SCALE: 1"=20'(V)(H)

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

E-W SITE SECTION
SCALE: 1"=20'(V)(H)

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

LELAND AVE. (55' w)

R
/W

 L
IN

E

R
/W

 L
IN

E

DELMAR BLVD.  (80' w)
PARAPET ELEV. 602.50PARAPET ELEV. 602.50 ROOF ELEV. 599.00

CANITILEVER ELEV. 541.00

S. LOOP STREET

PARAPET ELEV. 602.50

PARAPET ELEV. 602.50 PARAPET ELEV. 602.50 PARAPET ELEV. 602.50 PARAPET ELEV. 602.50 PARAPET ELEV. 602.50

COURTYARD ELEV. 544.00 ROOF ELEV. 544.00

ELEVATOR
OVERRUN ELEV. 605.00

ROOF ELEV. 599.00 ROOF ELEV. 599.00 ROOF ELEV. 599.00

EXISTING
GRADE

EXISTING
GRADE

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

D
EL

M
AR

 B
O

U
LE

VA
R

D
 &

 L
EL

AN
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
31

30

LO
CA

L 
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

/P
LA

T 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

66
00

\2
19

66
81

\6
68

1.
3\

C
iv

il\
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y\
66

81
.3

_b
as

e.
dw

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
04

.0
-S

IT
E 

SE
C

TI
O

N
S 

 P
LO

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

1,
  2

02
3 

- 1
1:

23
am

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 jo
sh

.b
ar

cu
s

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

SITE SECTIONS

C4.0



TOTAL TRACT

LE
LA

N
D

 (5
5'

w
) A

VE
.

S. LOOP STREET

DELMAR (80'w)  BLVD.

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

D
EL

M
AR

 B
O

U
LE

VA
R

D
 &

 L
EL

AN
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
31

30

LO
CA

L 
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

/P
LA

T 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

66
00

\2
19

66
81

\6
68

1.
3\

C
iv

il\
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y\
66

81
.3

_b
as

e.
dw

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
05

.0
-E

XI
ST

IN
G

 R
U

N
O

FF
 M

AP
  P

LO
TT

ED
:  

O
ct

 1
1,

  2
02

3 
- 1

1:
23

am
  P

LO
TT

ED
 B

Y:
 jo

sh
.b

ar
cu

s

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

EXISTING RUNOFF
MAP

C5.0

PRE-DEVELOPED RUNOFF: 20-yr; 20-min STORM

PAVEMENT = 1.33 Ac x 3.70 cfs/Ac = 4.92 cfs
ROOF = 0.45 Ac x 6.00 cfs/Ac = 2.70 cfs
GRASS = 0.20 Ac x 1.78 cfs/Ac = 0.36 cfs

TOTAL EXISTING RUNOFF = 7.98 c.f.s.



LE
LA

N
D

 (5
5'

w
) A

VE
.

S. LOOP STREET

DELMAR (80'w)  BLVD.

TAP PER MAWC
STANDARDS.

8" FULL FLOW
FIRE METER

EXISTING GRANITE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

EXISTING CONCRETE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

EXISTING CONCRETE
CURB TO BE
REMOVED &
REPLACED.

ACCESSIBLE RAMPS
@ DRIVEWAYS
(TYPICAL)

BIKE RACK
(TYP)

SIDEWALK PLANTING
AREA. SEE PLANTING

PLAN

CONCRETE PAVERS
AT RETAIL PATIO

EXISTING POST TOP
STREET LIGHTS TO
BE REINSTALLED.

ST. LOUIS WALK OF
FAME STAR PLACARD

(TYP)

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y:

D
EL

M
AR

 B
O

U
LE

VA
R

D
 &

 L
EL

AN
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY
 C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
31

30

LO
CA

L 
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

 C
IT

Y
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

PL
AN

/P
LA

T 
FO

R
:

D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

IL
E:

 O
:\D

R
AW

66
00

\2
19

66
81

\6
68

1.
3\

C
iv

il\
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y\
66

81
.3

_b
as

e.
dw

g 
 L

AY
O

U
T:

 C
06

.0
-P

R
O

PO
SE

D
 R

U
N

O
FF

 M
AP

  P
LO

TT
ED

:  
O

ct
 1

1,
  2

02
3 

- 1
1:

23
am

  P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 jo
sh

.b
ar

cu
s

25
7 

Ch
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
w

ay
St

. L
ou

is
, M

O 
 6

30
05

 P
H.

 (6
36

)
53

0-
91

00
 F

AX
 (6

36
) 5

30
-9

13
0

e-
m

ai
l: 

ge
ne

ra
l@

st
oc

ka
ss

oc
.c

om
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
to

ck
as

so
c.

co
m

PROPOSED RUNOFF
MAP

C6.0

POST-DEVELOPED RUNOFF: 20-yr; 20-min STORM

PAVEMENT = 0.47 Ac x 3.70 cfs/Ac = 1.74 cfs
ROOF= 1.42 Ac x 6.00 cfs/Ac = 8.52 cfs
GRASS = 0.09 Ac x 1.78 cfs/Ac = 0.16 cfs

TOTAL PROPOSED RUNOFF = 10.42 c.f.s.

DIFFERENTIAL RUNOFF = 10.42 cfs - 7.98 cfs = 2.44 cfs

PURSUANT TO MSD CONCEPTUAL REVIEW - 'BACK TO GRASS' EVALUATION REQUIRED

EXISTING BACK TO GRASS = 1.98 Ac x 1.78 cfs = 3.52 cfs

DIFFERENTIAL RUNOFF ' BACK TO GRASS' = 10.42 cfs - 3.52 cfs = 6.90 cfs.

STORMWATER DETENTION REQUIRED FOR 2-yr; 24-hr & 100-yr; 24-hr STORM EVENTS.

CHANNEL PROTECTION NOT REQUIRED BY MSD, BUT TO BE PROVIDED .



PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

:4
5:

35
 P

M

EP1.0
TITLE SHEET

223514

Author Checker

10/11/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

No . D escrip tion D ate

PROJECT TEAMPROJECT LOCATION DRAWING INDEX

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

UNIVERSITY CITY, MO 63130
DELMAR BOULEVARD & LELAND AVE

PROJECT AREA & UNIT MIX

OWNER/DEVELOPER: Subtext Development
3000 Locust Street
St. Louis, MO 63103
Ph:314-721-5559

ARCHITECT: ESG Architecture & Design
500 Washington Ave. South, Suite 1080
Minneapolis, MN  55415
Ph:  612-339-5508

CIVIL ENGINEER: Stock & Associates
257 Chesterfield Business Pkwy
Chesterfield, MO 63005
Ph:  636-530-9100

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT: AJC Design Group
1991 Wodland Way
Dunwoody, GA 30338
Ph:  770-330-0814

DRAWING INDEX - PRELIMINARY...

DRAWING
NUMBER DRAWING NAME PD

P

ARCHITECTURAL
EP1.0 TITLE SHEET ●
EP2.1 FLOOR PLANS ●
EP2.2 FLOOR PLANS ●
EP2.3 FLOOR PLANS ●
EP3.1 ELEVATIONS ●
EP4.1 RENDERINGS ●
EP4.2 RENDERINGS ●



DELMAR BLVD

S LOOP ST

LE
LA

N
D 

AV
E

RETAIL

LOBBY
RESIDENTIAL

RETAIL RESTAURANT

LOBBY

4.
2%

6.8%

PATIO
515'

~521'

521'

~515'

~522'

516'

+521'

+5
21

'

515'

TRANSFORMERS

+521'

+521'

~518'

518'

TRASH

UNSECURED PARKING - 77 SPACES

SECURED RESIDENT PARKING - 60 SPACES

LI
N

E 
O

F 
SE

CU
RE

D 
RE

SI
DE

N
T 

PA
RK

IN
G

BOH

(RESIDENT PARKING CONTINUES 
UP RAMP TO LEVEL 2)

DO
W

N

PET SPA

(140 bikes)

FE
N

CE
D 

DO
G 

RU
N

(IR
RI

GA
TE

D 
TU

RF
)

DOWN

ELEV 
LOBBY

SECURED PARKING - 16 SPACES

BOH

DASHED LINE INDICATES 
BUILDING FOOTPRINT ABOVE

DASHED LINE INDICATES 
BUILDING FOOTPRINT ABOVE

PARKING ENTRY
~518'

SERVICE ENTRY
~518'

BUS STOP

RETAIL 
PATIO

BIKE RACK (11 BIKES)

BIKE RACK (5 BIKES)

DOWN

PARKING ENTRY
~522'

6.8%

BIKE RACK (5 BIKES)

(PARKING CONTINUES DOWN RAMP 
TO LEVEL P1)

515.5'

AMENITY

RETAIL TRASH / BOHTRASH

LOADING

BIKE RACK (9 BIKES)

BENCH

LI
N

E 
O

F 
SE

CU
RE

D 
RE

SI
DE

N
T 

PA
RK

IN
G

REFER TO LANDSCAPE

REFER TO 
LANDSCAPE

REFER TO 
LANDSCAPE

LE
LA

N
D 

AV
E67 SECURED RESIDENT STALLS

(PARKING CONTINUES UP RAMP 
TO LEVEL 01)

PARKING

6.8%

UP TO L1

512'

LI
N

E 
O

F 
SE

CU
RE

D 
RE

SI
DE

N
T 

PA
RK

IN
G

RETAIL RESTAURANT

PATIO

LOBBY

PLAN 

NORTH

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:1
9 

PM

EP2.1
FLOOR PLANS

223514

Author Checker

10/11/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

1/16" = 1'-0"EP2.1
1 LEVEL 01

1/16" = 1'-0"EP2.1
2 LOWER LEVEL

No . D escrip tion D ate

SEE LEVEL 01 PLAN



UP

DN

UP

DOWN

DOWN TO L1

BOH

SECURED RESIDENT PARKING - 159 SPACES

BOH

BOH

TR
AS

H 
TI

P 
ZO

N
E

6.8%

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

6.8%

OPEN TO 
BELOW
(RETAIL)

OPEN TO 
BELOW
(LOBBY)

COWORKING

532'

526' - 6"

(SEE LANDSCAPE)

(SEE LANDSCAPE)

FIRE WALL

CLUB ROOM FITNESS YOGA/SAUNA

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

ZEN GARDEN
NON OCCUPIABLE

ROOF

AMENITY TERRACE

PLAN 

NORTH

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:2
0 

PM

EP2.2
FLOOR PLANS

223514

Author Checker

10/06/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

1/16" = 1'-0"EP2.2
1 LEVEL 2 PLAN

No . D escrip tion D ate

1/16" = 1'-0"EP2.2
2 LEVEL 3 PLAN



DN

FIRE WALL

RESIDENTIAL

UNIT TERRACES UNIT TERRACES UNIT TERRACES UNIT TERRACES

PLAN 

NORTH

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:2
0 

PM

EP2.3
FLOOR PLANS

223514

Author Checker

10/09/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

1/16" = 1'-0"EP2.3
2 LEVEL 7 PLAN

No . D escrip tion D ate



MASONRY

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

LAP SIDING

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT PANEL

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

O
VE

RA
LL

 8
5'

 - 
8"

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

MASONRY
FIBER CEMENT SIDING

METAL PANEL
FIBER CEMENT SIDING

BRICK

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

FIBER CEMENT SIDINGFIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

PAINTED MURAL MASONRY
METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING FIBER CEMENT SIDING FIBER CEMENT SIDING

FIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

O
VE

RA
LL

 8
5'

 - 
8"

FIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

METAL PANEL

MASONRY
MASONRY

METAL PANELMETAL PANELMETAL PANEL FIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

MASONRY

FIBER CEMENT PANEL
METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

LANDSCAPE GREEN WALL

FIBER CEMENT PANEL FIBER CEMENT PANEL

TRASH COLLECTION SCREENING -
OVERHEAD DOOR

LEVEL 1
521' - 0"

LEVEL 3
544' - 0"

LEVEL 4
554' - 8"

LEVEL 5
565' - 4"

LEVEL 6
576' - 0"

LEVEL 7
586' - 8"

ROOF LEVEL
598' - 4"

LEVEL 2
532' - 0"

11
' -

 8
"

10
' -

 8
"

10
' -

 8
"

10
' -

 8
"

10
' -

 8
"

12
' -

 0
"

11
' -

 0
"

O
VE

RA
LL

 7
9'

 - 
8"

MASONRY

FIBER CEMENT PANEL

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

METAL PANEL

MASONRY
METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT SIDING

MASONRY

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:2
2 

PM

EP3.1
ELEVATIONS

223514

Author Checker

10/11/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

No . D escrip tion D ate

1/16" = 1'-0"EP3.1
1 East Elevation

1/16" = 1'-0"EP3.1
2 North Elevation

1/16" = 1'-0"EP3.1
3 South Elevation

1/16" = 1'-0"EP3.1
4 West Elevation



PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:2
4 

PM

EP4.1
RENDERINGS

223514

Author Checker

10/10/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

No . D escrip tion D ate

RETAIL PATIO MAIN ENTRY @ DELMAR BLVD

DELMAR BLVD & LELAND AVE DELMAR BLVD & LELAND AVE - NIGHT



PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

N
O
T
  
 F

O
R
 

C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO

N

10
/1

1/
20

23
 1

2:
56

:2
5 

PM

EP4.2
RENDERINGS

223514

Author Checker

10/10/23

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
University City, MO

Preliminary
Development Plan

No . D escrip tion D ate

LELEAND AVE & S LOOP ST

WALK-UP UNITS WALK-UP UNITS



PARKING
521'

BIKE &
STORAGE

RETAIL
TRASH/

BOH

TRASH

1,216 SF
RETAIL

3,249 SF
RETAIL

3,646SF
RESTAURANT

5,230 SF
RESIDENTIAL

LOADING

527 SF
LOBBY

TRASH

BOH

PET SPAFE
N

CE
D 

DO
G 

RU
N

(IR
RI

GA
TE

D 
TU

RF
) ENTRY

PORTAL/
VESTIBULE

3,071 SF
LOBBY

2,434 SF
PATIO

(140 BIKES)

ENTRY STOOP, TYP.
SEE ARCHITECT PLANS

STREET TREE, TYP.

LANDSCAPE STRIP, TYP.

STREET TREE, TYP.

LANDSCAPE STRIP, TYP.

RETAIL PATIO

BIORETENTION PLANTING IN FRONT
OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT GRADE.

ORNAMENTAL PLANTING IN
RETAIL PATIO AREA

EVERGREEN FOUNDATION PLANTING
ALONG LOOP STREET FACADE, TYP.

COLUMNAR EVERGREEN PLANTING TO
ACCENT ARCHITECTURE, TYP.

DELMAR BLVD.

SOUTH LOOP STREET

LE
LA

N
D

 A
V

E

THE UTILITIES SHOWN FOR THE CONTRACTORS CONVENIENCE ONLY. THERE MAY BE OTHER UTILITIES
NOT SHOWN ON THESE PLANS. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
LOCATIONS SHOWN AND IT SHALL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO VERIFY ALL UTILITIES
WITHIN THE LIMITS OF THE WORK. ALL DAMAGE MADE TO EXISTING UTILITIES DURING
CONSTRUCTION LIES WITH THE CONTRACTOR.

IRRIGATION NOTE
TREES AND PLANTING AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED. IRRIGATION TO BE
DESIGN / BUILD BY LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR AND REVIEWED BY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
IRRIGATION ZONES, METER AND PANEL LOCATIONS TO BE
DETERMINED.

WATER BAGS OR A DRIP IRRIGATION SYSTEM MUST BE PROVIDED
FOR ALL TREES IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING AND REMAIN
THROUGH ESTABLISHMENT.

WHEN WATER BAGS ARE USED MANUFACTURERS
RECOMMENDATIONS MUST BE FOLLOWED FOR PROPER SIZING
AND WATERING SCHEDULES. BAGS WILL BE FILLED WEEKLY BY
OWNER AND DURING DROUGHTS FOR A MINIMUM OF 18 MONTHS
AFTER INSTALLATION.

SOILS NOTES
1. ALL PLANTERS TO HAVE A MINIMUM 24" DEPTH OF PLANTING

SOIL
2. COORDINATE WORK WITH THAT OF OTHER TRADES

AFFECTING OR AFFECTED BY SOIL PLACEMENT.
3. PREPARE TRANSITION ZONE AND SUBGRADE IN ALL

PLANTING AREAS.
4. PLACE, SPREAD, AND BRING TO SPECIFIED ELEVATIONS FOR

EACH SOIL TYPE.
5. PROTECT ALL SOIL SYSTEM INSTALLATIONS UNTIL

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.
6. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO

REJECT ANY SOIL DEEMED UNSUITABLE.
7. SUBMIT PLANTING MIX SAMPLES TO THE LANDSCAPE

ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL.
8. STOCKPILING ON-SITE, OFF-SITE, AND AT THE SOURCE

SHOULD BE RESTRICTED TO NO MORE THAN THE NEEDS OF
WHAT IS NEEDED FOR THE FOLLOWING 72 HOUR PERIOD.

9. PLACE SOIL IN LIFTS NOT TO EXCEED 8".
10. REMOVE ALL LARGE CLODS, STONES 1" IN DIAMETER OR

LARGER, LUMPS, BRUSH, ROOTS, STUMPS, LITTER,
CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS, AND OTHER FOREIGN MATERIALS
FROM SOILS PRIOR TO PLANT INSTALLATION.

11. DO NOT PLACE MUDDY OR WET SOILS MIX.

PLANTING NOTES
1. ALL REQUIRED LANDSCAPED AREAS SHALL BE COVERED WITH

A BIODEGRADABLE MULCH OR GROUNDCOVER PLANTS. ALL
REQUIRED TREES AND SHRUBS TO BE LOCATED IN MULCHED
PLANTING BEDS.

2. STONE MULCH WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED.
3. TOPSOIL TO BE 24" MIN IN ALL PLANTING BEDS.
4. ALL PLANTING AREAS TO BE FREE OF WEEDS, STONES, AND

ALL CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS PRIOR TO PLANT INSTALLATION.
5. SUBSTITUTIONS SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE OWNER AND

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
6. IN THE EVENT THAT PLANT MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN THE PLANS

ARE UNAVAILABLE, CONTACT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
FOR APPROVAL.

7. PLANT MATERIAL TO BE WARRANTED FOR A PERIOD OF NE
LESS THAN ONE YEAR FROM COMPLETION OF INSTALLATION.

8. ALL TREES TO BE PLANTED IN ACCORDANCE TO THE CITY OF
WEST LAFAYETTE TREE MANUAL.  THE CITY TREE MANUAL
SHALL SUPERCEDE ANY NOTES SPECIFIED IN THIS DRAWING
SHOULD A CONFLICT BE DISCOVERED.

9. NO SUBSTITUTIONS WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE
GREENSPACE ADMINISTRATOR, LA, AND OWNER.

TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME CAL SIZE CONT QTY REMARKS
AB Acer saccharum 'Barrett Cole' / Apollo® Sugar Maple 3" Cal. 6
CC Cercis canadensis `Oklahoma` / Oklahoma Texas Redbud 2" Cal. B&B 8 5` C.T.; FULL AND HEALTHY; WELL BRANCHED; MATCHED
GP Ginkgo biloba 'Princeton Sentry' / Princeton Sentry Maidenhair Tree 3" Cal. 9
QN Quercus robur x bicolor 'Nadler' / Kindred Spirit® Oak 3" Cal. 8
TS Taxodium distichum 'Skyward' / Lindsey's Columnar Bald Cypress 3" Cal. 6
TE Thuja occidentalis `Emerald` / Emerald Arborvitae B&B 6`-8` Height 7 FULL TO GROUND; SYMMETRICAL FORM; FULL AND HEALTHY; WELL

BRANCHED; MATCHED

SHRUBS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME CONT SIZE NATIVE QTY REMARKS
AK Abelia x grandiflora 'Kaleidoscope' / Kaleidoscope Glossy Abelia 3 Gal. 26 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
CK2 Cornus sericea `Kelseyi` / Kelsey`s Dwarf Red Twig Dogwood 3 Gal. 17 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
DM Distylium 'Vintage Jade' / Distylium 3 Gal. 14 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
FB Fothergilla gardenii 'Blue Mist' / Blue Mist Dwarf Fothergilla 3 Gal. 8 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
HW Hydrangea quercifolia `Pee Wee` / Oakleaf Hydrangea 3 Gal. 15 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
IG Ilex glabra 'Shamrock' / Shamrock Inkberry Holly 3 Gal. Native 78 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
IL Itea virginica `Little Henry` TM / Virginia Sweetspire 3 Gal. 48 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
JS Juniperus x pfitzeriana 'Sea Green' / Sea Green Pfitzer Juniper 3 Gal. 42
PS Panicum virgatum `Shenandoah` / Shenandoah Switch Grass 1 Gal. 68 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
TM Taxus x media `Hicksii` / Hicks Yew 3 Gal. 101 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED

SHRUB AREAS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME CONT NATIVE SPACING QTY
CP Carex pensylvanica / Pennsylvania Sedge 1 Gal. Native 24" o.c. 164 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
CL Chasmanthium latifolium / Northern Sea Oats 3 Gal. 18" o.c. 72
IV Iris virginica / Blue Flag Iris 1 Gal. Native 24" o.c. 209 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
NW Nepeta x 'Walker's Low' / Walker's Low Catmint 1 Gal. 18" o.c. 58 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY; MATCHED
PH Pennisetum alopecuroides 'Hameln' / Hameln Fountain Grass 1 Gal. 24" o.c. 57

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME CONT PLUG NATIVE SPACING QTY REMARKS
CD Cynodon dactylon / Bermuda Grass - 582 sf
LG Liriope muscari 'Evergreen Giant' / Evergreen Giant Lilyturf 1 GAL. 12" o.c. 29 NURSERY GROWN: FULL AND HEALTHY

PLANT SCHEDULE

TREES BOTANICAL NAME
Acer saccharum 'Barrett Cole'

Cercis canadensis `Oklahoma`

Ginkgo biloba 'Princeton Sentry'

Quercus robur x bicolor 'Nadler'

Taxodium distichum 'Skyward'

Thuja occidentalis `Emerald`

SHRUBS BOTANICAL NAME
Abelia x grandiflora 'Kaleidoscope'

Cornus sericea `Kelseyi`

Distylium 'Vintage Jade'

Fothergilla gardenii 'Blue Mist'

Hydrangea quercifolia `Pee Wee`

Ilex glabra 'Shamrock'

Itea virginica `Little Henry` TM

Juniperus x pfitzeriana 'Sea Green'

Panicum virgatum `Shenandoah`

Taxus x media `Hicksii`

SHRUB AREAS BOTANICAL NAME
Carex pensylvanica

Chasmanthium latifolium

Iris virginica

Nepeta x 'Walker's Low'

Pennisetum alopecuroides 'Hameln'

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL NAME
Cynodon dactylon

Liriope muscari 'Evergreen Giant'

PLANT SCHEDULE

0

SCALE: 

FEET20 40 60

1" = 20'-0"

N O R T H

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

ORIGINAL ISSUE:

REVISIONS:

KEY PLAN

NOT   F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

223514

LOCAL UNIVERSITY CITY

LOCAL
UNIVERSITY CITY
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue
University City, MO

No. Description Date

1 9 9 1  W O O D L A N D  W A Y
D U N W O O D Y ,  G A  3 0 3 3 8
( P )  7 7 0 . 3 3 0 . 0 8 1 4

AJC DESIGN GROUP

AJC AJC

PRELIMINARY
DEVELOPMENT

PLAN
10/11/23

HARDSCAPE PLAN
GROUND LEVEL

L501

10/11/23



 
 

 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY REPORT 
Date:  September 22, 2023 
   
To:  Mr. Ryan Bumb, Subtext Living 
   
From:  Mr. Srinivasa Yanamanamanda, P.E., PTOE, PTP 
   
CBB Job Number:  2023-053 
   
Project:  Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development 

University City, Missouri 
 

 
As requested, CBB has completed a traffic impact study pertaining to the proposed mixed-use 
development in University City, Missouri. The location of the site relative to the surrounding 
area is depicted in Figure 1. 
 

 
Figure 1: Project Location Map 

 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 2 of 20 

Based on the preliminary site plan provided by you, the development will consist of a 314-unit 
mixed-use residential building with proposed retail, bank, and restaurant on the first two levels. 
Access to the development is proposed as three curb cuts on Loop South. A schematic of the 
concept plan provided is shown in Exhibit 1. 
 
The purpose of this study was to determine the adequacy of the existing roadway, specifically 
the roundabout, to accommodate the proposed development by estimating the number of 
additional trips that would be generated by the proposed development and evaluating the 
impact on the operating conditions for the adjacent roadways. If necessary, roadway 
improvements (lane additions and/or traffic control modifications) were recommended to 
mitigate the impact of the development and to accommodate the additional traffic. The focus 
of this study was the AM and PM peak hours of a typical weekday. 
 
The following intersections were included in the study: 

• Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue;  

• Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue;  

• Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue;  

• Kingsland Avenue and Loop North; and 

• Leland Avenue and Loop South. 

 
The following analysis scenarios were evaluated for the weekday AM and PM peak hours: 

• 2023 Existing Conditions; and 
• 2023 Build Conditions (Existing plus site trips). 

 
The following report presents the methodology and findings relative to the 2023 Existing and 
2023 Build conditions. 
 
  



Exhibit 1: Preliminary Site Plan (provided by others)

Traffic Impact Study
Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development

University City, Missouri

Job# 054-23
09/06/2023



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 4 of 20 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 
Area Roadway System: Delmar Boulevard is an east-west minor arterial roadway that runs 
between St. Louis County and the City of St. Louis proper. Within the study area, Delmar 
Boulevard is owned and maintained by the City of University City and provides access to several 
commercial sites. The posted speed limit is 20 miles per hour (mph). Generally, Delmar 
Boulevard provides two lanes, one lane in each direction as well as on-street parking and 
sidewalks on both sides of the roadway. Along the frontage of the site, the Loop Trolley travels 
and operates with vehicular traffic, similar to a bus.  
 
Leland Avenue is a north-south local roadway that is owned and maintained by the City of 
University City. Within the study area, Leland Avenue provides access to several commercial 
sites. Sidewalks are provided along both sides of the roadway. There is not a posted speed limit, 
but 25 mph was assumed. North of Delmar Boulevard, Leland Avenue changes orientation to an 
east-west roadway and becomes Loop North.  
 
Melville Avenue is a north-south local roadway that is owned and maintained by the City of 
University City. South of Delmar Boulevard, Melville Avenue provides access to several 
residential and commercial sites. North of Delmar Boulevard, Melville Avenue provides access 
to a small surface parking lot. South of Delmar Boulevard, Melville Avenue provides sidewalks 
on the west side of the roadway and on-street parking on the east side of the roadway. There is 
not a posted speed limit, but 25 mph was assumed.  
 
Kingsland Avenue is a north-south major collector that is owned and maintained by the City of 
University City. Within the study area Kingsland Avenue provides access to several commercial 
sites. The posted speed limit is 30 mph and sidewalks are provided along both sides of the 
roadway.  
 
Loop South is an east-west local roadway that is owned and maintained by the City of University 
City. Within the study area, Loop South provides access to several residential and commercial 
sites. Sidewalks are provided along both sides of the roadway and on-street parking is provided 
on the south side of the roadway. There is not a posted speed limit, but 25 mph was assumed.  
 
The intersection of Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue is controlled by a traffic signal. All 
approaches provide one left-turn lane and one shared through/right-turn. Figure 2 provides an 
aerial of the Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue intersection. 
 
The intersection of Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue is controlled by a traffic signal. All 
approaches provide one shared left-turn/through/right-turn. Figure 3 provides an aerial of the 
Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue intersection. 
 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 5 of 20 

The intersection of Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue is controlled by a traffic signal. The 
eastbound and westbound approaches provide one left-turn lane and one shared through/right-
turn. The northbound and southbound approaches provide one left-turn, one through lane, and 
one right-turn lane. Figure 4 provides an aerial of the Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue 
intersection. 
 
The intersection of Kingsland Avenue and Loop North is controlled by a traffic signal. The 
westbound approach provides one shared left-turn/through/right-turn lane. The northbound 
approach provides one through lane and one right-turn lane. The southbound approach provides 
one left-turn lane and two through lanes. Figure 5 provides an aerial of the Kingsland Avenue 
and Loop North intersection. 
 
The intersection of Leland Avenue and Loop North is under all-way stop control. All approaches 
provide one shared left-turn/through/right-turn. Figure 6 provides an aerial of the Kingsland 
Avenue and Loop North intersection. 
 

 
Figure 2: Aerial View of the Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue Intersection 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 6 of 20 

 
Figure 3: Aerial View of the Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue Intersection 

 

 
Figure 4: Aerial View of the Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue Intersection 

 
 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 7 of 20 

 
Figure 5: Aerial View of the Kingsland Avenue and Loop North Intersection 

 

 
Figure 6: Aerial View of the Leland Avenue and Loop South Intersection 

 
 
  



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 8 of 20 

Existing Traffic Volumes: Video turning movement traffic counts were conducted during the 
weekday commuter morning (6:00 - 9:00 a.m.) peak period on Friday, May 5th and May 19th, 
2023, and the weekday commuter afternoon (3:00 - 7:00 p.m.) peak period on Thursday, May 
4th and May 18th, 2023, at the following intersections: 

• Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue;  
• Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue;  
• Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue;  
• Kingsland Avenue and Loop North; and 
• Leland Avenue and Loop South. 

 
Based on the traffic data collected, the AM peak hour occurred between 7:45 and 8:45 a.m. and 
the PM peak hour occurred between 5:00 and 6:00 p.m. The 2023 Existing Traffic Volumes are 
summarized in Exhibit 2. Given the traffic characteristics in the area and the anticipated trip 
generation for the proposed development, the weekday AM and PM peak periods would 
represent a “worst-case scenario” with regards to the traffic impact. If traffic operations are 
acceptable during these peak periods, it can be reasoned that conditions would be acceptable 
throughout the remainder of the day. 
 
 
  



Loop North

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

130 (200)170 (360)
9 (25)

19
5 

(2
75

)
20

 (2
5)

30
 (6

5)

11
 (3

5)
15

 (4
0)

4 
(2

5)

35 (55)
145 (390)12 (17)

Delmar Boulevard

19 (35)190 (390)
0 (14)

20
 (4

5)
2 

(2
)

25
 (3

5)

2 
(1

)
2 

(5
)

3 
(1

7)

25 (60)
190 (420)3 (5)

0 (0)200 (405)
8 (13)

0 
(0

)
0 

(0
)

0 
(1

)
4 

(2
5)

1 
(0

)
15

 (3
5)

0 (1)
220 (460)19 (30)

M
el

vi
lle

 A
ve

nu
e

Ki
ng

sla
nd

 A
ve

nu
e

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
 A

ve
nu

e

A

Pa
rk

in
g

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

Legend

( )XX

XX

= Peak Hour Traffic (5:00 - 6:00 )PM PM

= Peak Hour Traffic (7:45 - 8:45 )AM AM

= Existing All-Way Stop

= Existing Traffic Signal

n.t.s.

= Existing Yield

A

B

Loop South

Loop South

Exhibit 2: Existing Traffic Volumes

Traffic Impact Study
Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development

University City, Missouri

Job# 054-23
09/06/2023

2 6( )
5 4( )
0 0( )

0
0(

)
1 

(
)1

1
1(

)

2 (11)
2 10( )

0 0( )

B

3 
(1

4)
0 

(1
)

2 
(6

)
1 

(4
)

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

22
0 

(3
40

)
18

 (1
3)

19 (15)
14 (19)

16
0 

(2
70

)
7 

(1
7)



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 10 of 20 

PROPOSED SITE 
Proposed Land Use: Based on the concept plan provided by you, shown in Exhibit 1, the 
proposed development would consist of a 314-unit mixed-use residential building with proposed 
retail, bank, and restaurant on the first two levels. 
 
Site Access: Access to the development is proposed as three curb cuts on Loop South. 
 
Sight Distance: Adequate sight distance is necessary at intersections to allow drivers to perceive 
potentially conflicting vehicles and allow those motorists sufficient time to adjust their speed to 
avoid a collision or make a choice of when to cross or enter the mainline traffic flow. All drivers 
approaching or stopped at the intersection should have an unobstructed view of the entire 
intersection so that potential collisions can be avoided. 
 
As more detailed plans are developed, it is recommended that the site civil engineer illustrate 
the minimum sight distance requirements on the plans to ensure that adequate sight distance 
can be achieved within the clear area of the right-of-way; i.e., the sight distance triangles. 
 
Furthermore, careful consideration should be given to sight distance obstructions when 
designing the intersections or planning any future aesthetic enhancements, such as signage, 
berms, fencing and landscaping to ensure that these improvements do not obstruct the view of 
entering and exiting traffic at the intersections with the public roads. It is generally 
recommended that all improvements wider than two inches (posts, tree trunks, etc.) and higher 
than 3.5 feet above the elevation of the nearest pavement edge be held back at least 20 feet 
from the traveled roadway. 
 
Trip Generation: As a primary step in this analysis, forecasts were prepared to estimate the 
amount of traffic that the proposed mixed use residential building would generate during the 
weekday AM and PM peak periods. These forecasts were based upon information provided in 
the Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE).  This manual, which is a standard resource for transportation engineers, is based on a 
compilation of nationwide studies documenting the characteristics of various land uses. Trip 
estimates for the proposed mixed use residential building were based on the following ITE land 
uses:  

• ITE 221 – Multifamily Housing;  
• ITE 876 – Apparel Retail;  
• ITE 932 – High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant; and 
• ITE 911 –Walk-In Bank.  

 
 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 11 of 20 

It is important to note that ITE estimates assume each of the development’s uses would be 
freestanding. Instead, the uses within the development area would share access to the main 
roadways surrounding the site and, in some cases, parking. Published studies show that patrons 
of multi-use developments, such as this, often visit more than one use within the development 
during a single visit. As a result, a portion of the trips generated by the development would be 
captured internally and not impact the external road system. In order to account for internal 
capture trips within the Subtext apartment plan, a 40% “common trip” reduction was applied to 
the PM peak hour trip estimate to account for motorists that would visit other sites within the 
development (i.e., trips that would be captured internally and not impact the external road 
system).  
 
The trip generation estimates were further adjusted to account for the fact that not all of the 
trips generated by the development would be new to the surrounding road system, but instead 
are trips already passing the site. These “pass-by trips” would be attracted to the development 
on their way to or from other destinations. The actual percentage of pass-by traffic depends on 
the nature of the use, the volume on the adjacent street, and time of day. Therefore, statistical 
information provided in the Trip Generation Handbook, A Recommended Practice was utilized 
to estimate pass-by percentages for the proposed uses. These pass-by trips would create turning 
movements at the driveways serving the site, but they would not represent new traffic on the 
adjacent roadways. 
 
The resulting trip generation estimate for the proposed mixed-use development is summarized 
in Table 1. As shown in the table, the proposed mixed-use development is estimated to generate 
175 new trips during the weekday AM peak hour and 130 new trips during the weekday PM peak 
hour. 
 

Table 1: Trip Generation Estimate – Proposed Development 

Land Use (ITE Code) Size  

Weekday AM  
Peak Hour 

Weekday PM  
Peak Hour  

In Out Total In Out Total 

Multifamily Housing (221) 314 Units 15 65 80 60 25 85 
Retail (876) 1,106 sf 15 10 25 10 10 20 

Sit-Down Restaurant (932) 4,000 sf -- -- -- 35 30 65 
Walk-In Bank (911) 3,054 sf 35 35 70 40 40 80 

Gross Trips 65 110 175 145 105 250 
Common Trip Reduction (40%) -- -- -- -60 -40 -100 

Net Trips 65 110 175 85 65 150 
Pass-By Trips -- -- -- 10 10 20 

New Trips 65 110 175 75 55 130 
~ Trips rounded to nearest 5 vph 

 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 12 of 20 

Trip Distribution: The new trips for the proposed development will be assigned into and out of the 
site based upon an assumed directional distribution. Based upon the existing travel patterns in the 
area, it is anticipated the distribution of new site-generated trips would be as summarized in Table 
2. 
 

Table 2: Trip Distribution Assumptions 

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL 
AM / PM 

PEAK HOURS 

To/from the north on Kingsland Avenue 10% 

To/from the south on Kingsland Avenue 10% 

To/from the west on Delmar Boulevard 35% 

To/from the east on Delmar Boulevard 45% 

 
The resulting assignment of site-generated trips for the proposed development during the 
weekday AM and PM peak hours are summarized in Exhibit 3.  
 
  



Exhibit 3: Site-Generated Trips

Traffic Impact Study
Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development

University City, Missouri

Job# 054-23
09/06/2023

5
10(

)
10

5(
) Loop North

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

25 30( )

40
25(

)
10

5(
)

0
5(

)

0 5( )

Delmar Boulevard

SITE

50
25(

)

30 35( )

50 25( )
30 35( )

M
el

vi
lle

 A
ve

nu
e

Ki
ng

sla
nd

 A
ve

nu
e

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

30
35(

)

50 25( )

Loop South

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
 A

ve
nu

e

SITE

Pa
rk

in
g

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

B

Legend

( )XX

XX

= Peak Hour Traffic (5:00 - 6:00 )PM PM

= Peak Hour Traffic (7:45 - 8:45 )AM AM

= Existing All-Way Stop

= Existing Traffic Signal

n.t.s.

= Existing Yield

A

C D

E B

Loop South

Pr
op

os
ed

W
es

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Loop South

5
10(

)

Pr
op

os
ed

 W
es

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

 C
en

te
r

Si
te

 D
riv

ew
ay

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
as

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

15
5(

)
15

0(
)

5 10( )
35 25( )

0 5( )
30 30( )

E

25
20(

)
20

20(
)

25 25( )
20 15( )

25 25( )
20 10( )

D

20
15(

)
15

5(
)

5 15( )
30 35( )

5 5( )
40 25( )

C

30
45(

)

50 35( )
10 5( )

A

5 5( )

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

Pr
op

os
ed

Ce
nt

er
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

Ea
st

Si
te

 D
riv

ew
ay

0 (-5)

0 (-5)

����� ��	
�� ���� �� ��������� � ���
�����red

�� ��	
�� �
� �� ������� ��������



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 14 of 20 

2023 Build Traffic Volumes (2023 Existing plus site trips): The site-generated trips for the 
proposed mixed-use development (Exhibit 3) were added to the 2023 Existing traffic volumes 
(Exhibit 2) to determine the total volumes in the 2023 Build scenario. The 2023 Build Traffic 
Volumes for the weekday AM and PM peak hours are shown in Exhibit 4.  
 
 
 
  



Exhibit 4: 2023 Build Traffic Volumes

Traffic Impact Study
Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development

University City, Missouri

Job# 054-23
09/06/2023

Loop North

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

Delmar Boulevard

SITE

M
el

vi
lle

 A
ve

nu
e

30
45(

)

50 35( )
10 5( )

Ki
ng

sla
nd

 A
ve

nu
e

Ki
ng

sla
nd

Av
en

ue

20
15(

)
15

5(
)

5 15( )
30 35( )

5 5( )
40 25( )

25
20(

)
20

20(
)

25 25( )
20 15( )

25 25( )
20 10( )

15
5(

)
15

0(
)

5 10( )
35 25( )

0 5( )
30 30( )

2 6( )
5 4( )
0 0( )

0
0(

)
1 

(
)1

1
1(

)

52 36( )
2 10( )

0 0( )

Loop South

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
Av

en
ue

Le
la

nd
 A

ve
nu

e

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

SITE

A

Pa
rk

in
g

Lo
t

Dr
iv

ew
ay

BC D E

Legend

( )XX

XX

= Peak Hour Traffic (5:00 - 6:00 )PM PM

= Peak Hour Traffic (7:45 - 8:45 )AM AM

= Existing All-Way Stop

= Existing Traffic Signal

n.t.s.

= Existing Yield

A

C D

E B

Loop South

Loop South

22
5 

(3
50

)
18

 (1
3)

19 (15)
14 (19)

17
0 

(2
75

)
7 

(1
7)

130 (200)170 (355)
34 (55)

19
5 

(2
75

)
25

 (3
5)

30
 (6

5)

51
 (6

0)
25

 (4
5)

4 
(3

0)

35 (55)
145 (385)12 (22)

19 (35)190 (390)
0 (14)

20
 (4

5)
2 

(2
)

25
 (3

5)

2 
(1

)
2 

(5
)

53
 (4

2)

25 (60)
190 (420)33 (40)

0 (0)250 (430)
8 (13)

0 
(0

)
0 

(0
)

0 
(1

)
4 

(2
5)

1 
(0

)
15

 (3
5)

0 (1)
250 (495)19 (30)

5 5( )

33
 (

)
49

0 
(1

)
2 

(6
)

1 
(4

)Pr
op

os
ed

 W
es

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

 C
en

te
r

Si
te

 D
riv

ew
ay

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
as

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

W
es

t
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

Ce
nt

er
Si

te
 D

riv
ew

ay

Pr
op

os
ed

Ea
st

Si
te

 D
riv

ew
ay



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 16 of 20 

TRAFFIC ANALYSIS 
Study Procedures: The Existing and Build operating conditions were analyzed using SYNCHRO 
11, a macro-level analytical traffic flow model. SYNCHRO is based on study procedures outlined 
in the Highway Capacity Manual, published by the Transportation Research Board. This manual, 
which is used universally by traffic engineers to measure roadway capacity, establishes six levels 
of traffic service: Level A ("Free Flow”), to Level F ("Fully Saturated"). Levels of service (LOS) are 
measures of traffic flow, which consider such factors as speed, delay, traffic interruptions, safety, 
driver comfort, and convenience. Level C, which is normally used for highway design, represents 
a roadway with volumes ranging from 70% to 80% of its capacity.  However, Level D is often 
considered acceptable for peak period conditions in urban and suburban areas. 
 
The thresholds that define level of service at an intersection are based upon the type of control 
used (i.e., whether it is signalized or unsignalized) and the calculated delay.  For signalized and 
all-way stop intersections, the average control delay per vehicle is estimated for each movement 
and aggregated for each approach and then the intersection as a whole. At intersections with 
partial (side-street) stop control, delay is calculated for the minor movements only since 
motorists on the main road are not required to stop.   
 
Level of service is directly related to control delay. At signalized intersections, the level of service 
criteria differs from that at unsignalized intersections primarily because varying transportation 
facilities create different driver expectations. The expectation is that a signalized intersection is 
designed to carry higher traffic volumes, and consequently may experience greater delay than 
an unsignalized intersection. Table 3 summarizes the thresholds used in the analysis for 
signalized and unsignalized intersections. 
 

Table 3: Level of Service Thresholds 

Level of Service (LOS) 

Control Delay per Vehicle (sec/veh) 

Signalized Intersections Unsignalized Intersections 
A < 10 0-10 
B > 10-20 > 10-15 
C > 20-35 > 15-25 
D > 35-55 > 25-35 
E > 55-80 > 35-50 
F > 80 > 50 

 
It should be acknowledged that the perception of acceptable traffic service varies widely by area. 
Specifically, more delay is usually tolerated in urban regions compared to rural areas. Based on 
the character of this area, we believe that LOS D would be an appropriate target for overall peak 
period traffic operations. 
 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 17 of 20 

2023 Operating Conditions: The study intersections were evaluated using the methodologies 
described previously. Table 4 summarizes the results of this analysis, which reflects the Existing 
and Build operating conditions and average delay at the study intersections during the weekday 
AM and PM peak hours. The existing lanes and traffic control for the study intersections were 
assumed for the existing intersections. A single-lane approach was assumed for the approach 
exiting the proposed development. 
 

Table 4: Capacity Analysis Summary 

INTERSECTION/MOVEMENT 
AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

EXISTING  BUILD EXISTING  BUILD  

Delmar Boulevard and Kingsland Avenue (Signal) 

Eastbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (4.1) 
95th Queue: 70’ TH 

A (5.9) 
95th Queue: 80’ TH 

A (7.8) 
95th Queue: 190’ TH 

A (9.1) 
95th Queue: 215’ TH 

Westbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (7.9) 
95th Queue: 80’ TH 

B (10.5) 
95th Queue: 80’ TH 

B (18.2) 
95th Queue: 385’ TH 

C (20.4) 
95th Queue: 385’ TH 

Northbound Kingsland Avenue Approach C (32.3) 
95th Queue: 25’ TH 

C (33.2) 
95th Queue: 60’ LT 

C (24.1) 
95th Queue: 45’ TH 

C (24.3) 
95th Queue: 60’ TH 

Southbound Kingsland Avenue Approach C (21.4) 
95th Queue: 40’ LT 

C (21.3) 
95th Queue: 65’ RT 

C (21.1) 
95th Queue: 75’ RT 

C (21.5) 
95th Queue: 75’ RT 

Overall B (11.6) B (14.0) B (15.3) B (16.6) 

Loop North and Kingsland Avenue (Signal) 

Westbound Loop North Approach A (8.8) 
95th Queue: 20’  

A (8.9) 
95th Queue: 20’ TH 

B (10.4) 
95th Queue: 25’ TH 

B (10.4) 
95th Queue: 25’ TH 

Northbound Kingsland Avenue Approach A (1.9) 
95th Queue: 35’ TH 

A (1.9) 
95th Queue: 35’ TH 

A (1.8) 
95th Queue: 55’ TH 

A (1.9) 
95th Queue: 60’ TH 

Southbound Kingsland Avenue Approach A (1.7) 
95th Queue: 20’ TH 

A (1.6) 
95th Queue: 20’ TH 

A (1.5) 
95th Queue: 30’ TH 

A (1.5) 
95th Queue: 30’ TH 

Overall A (2.3) A (2.2) A (2.1) A (2.1) 

Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue (Signal) 

Eastbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (2.3) 
95th Queue: 60’ TH 

A (3.8) 
95th Queue: 60’ TH 

A (3.2) 
95th Queue: 120’ TH 

A (4.5) 
95th Queue: 125’ TH 

Westbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (2.0) 
95th Queue: <20’ TH 

A (2.2) 
95th Queue: 5’ TH 

A (6.6) 
95th Queue: 185’ TH 

A (6.4) 
95th Queue: 190’ TH 

Northbound Leland Avenue Approach D (35.4) 
95th Queue: 15’ TH 

B (19.2) 
95th Queue: 40’ TH 

C (24.3) 
95th Queue: 25’ TH 

B (19.5) 
95th Queue: 40’ TH 

Southbound Leland Avenue Approach D (36.2) 
95th Queue: 45’ LT 

D (37.0) 
95th Queue: 45’ LT 

C (32.1) 
95th Queue: 55’ LT 

C (32.1) 
95th Queue: 55’ LT 

Overall A (5.9) A (7.4) A (7.6) A (8.1) 

X (XX.X) - Level of Service (Vehicular delay in seconds per vehicle) 
95th percentile queue for the critical movement of the approach and lane (L-Left, T-Thru, R-Right) 

 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 18 of 20 

Table 4: Capacity Analysis Summary (Continued) 

INTERSECTION/MOVEMENT 
AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

EXISTING  BUILD EXISTING  BUILD  

Delmar Boulevard and Melville Avenue (Signal) 

Eastbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (7.1) 
95th Queue: 40’ TH 

A (7.3) 
95th Queue: 75’ TH 

A (4.4) 
95th Queue: 140’ TH 

A (5.4) 
95th Queue: 140’ TH 

Westbound Delmar Boulevard Approach A (6.6) 
95th Queue: 85’ TH 

A (6.8) 
95th Queue: 95’ TH 

A (3.1) 
95th Queue: 115’ TH 

A (3.3) 
95th Queue: 130’ TH 

Northbound Melville Avenue Approach B (17.2) 
95th Queue: 20’ TH 

B (17.2) 
95th Queue: 20’ TH 

C (32.2) 
95th Queue: 55’ TH 

C (32.2) 
95th Queue: 55’ TH 

Southbound Melville Avenue Approach A (<1.0) A (<1.0) D (41.0) D (41.0) 

Overall A (7.2) A (7.4) A (5.5) A (5.9) 

Loop South and Leland Avenue (All-Way STOP) 

Eastbound Loop South Approach A (7.1) A (7.6) A (7.2) A (7.5) 

Westbound Loop South Approach A (6.8) A (6.9) A (6.7) A (6.8) 

Northbound Leland Avenue Approach A (6.7) A (6.9) A (6.7) A (6.8) 

Southbound Leland Avenue Approach A (6.7) A (6.7) A (6.8) A (6.8) 

Overall A (6.8) A (7.2) A (6.9) A (7.1) 

Loop South and East Site Driveway (Side-Street STOP) 

Eastbound Loop South Approach  A (<1.0)  A (2.2) 

Westbound Loop South Approach  Free Flow  Free Flow 

Southbound Site Driveway Approach  A (8.8)  A (8.5) 

Loop South and Center Site Driveway (Side-Street STOP) 

Eastbound Loop South Approach  A (4.1)  A (4.6) 

Westbound Loop South Approach  Free Flow  Free Flow 

Southbound Site Driveway Approach  A (9.0)  A (8.9) 

Loop South and West Site Driveway (Side-Street STOP) 

Eastbound Loop South Approach  A (1.0)  A (2.2) 

Westbound Loop South Approach  Free Flow  Free Flow 

Southbound Site Driveway Approach  A (8.9)  A (8.7) 

X (XX.X) - Level of Service (Vehicular delay in seconds per vehicle) 
95th percentile queue for the critical movement of the approach and lane (L-Left, T-Thru, R-Right) 

 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 19 of 20 

As shown in the table, all approaches at the study intersections currently operate at favorable 
levels of service (i.e., LOS D or better) during all peak periods. All approaches at the study 
intersections, as well as the proposed site driveway approaches, would continue to operate at 
favorable levels of service for the Build condition during the AM and PM peak periods with 
negligible differences in the forecasted delay as compared to the Existing conditions. The 95th 
percentile queue reaches the intersection of Delmar and Melville and continues to do so under 
the build conditions.   
 
 
  



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Traffic Impact Study 
Delmar Boulevard and Leland Avenue 

University City, Missouri 
September 22, 2023 

Page 20 of 20 

SUMMARY 
 
CBB completed the preceding study to address the traffic impacts associated with the proposed 
mixed-use development, located on the southwest corner of Delmar Boulevard and Leland 
Avenue in University City, Missouri.  

• The proposed mixed use is estimated to generate 175 new trips in the AM peak hour and 
130 new trips in the PM peak hours to the adjacent roadways.  

• All approaches to the existing study intersections, as well as the proposed site drives 
approaches, would continue to operate at acceptable levels of service for the Build 
conditions during the AM and PM peak hours of a typical weekday. 

• CBB recommends that the site civil engineer illustrate the necessary intersection sight 
distance triangles on the site plan for all site drives. These areas should be kept clear of 
all obstructions to provide adequate visibility for safe operations.  

 
We trust that this traffic impact study adequately describes the forecasted traffic conditions that 
should be expected in the vicinity of the proposed mixed-use development in University City, 
Missouri. If additional information is desired, please contact me at 
syanamanamanda@cbbtraffic.com. 
 
     
 
 

mailto:syanamanamanda@cbbtraffic.com


 
 

 

Parking Sufficiency Memorandum 
Date:  September 22, 2023 
   
To:  Mr. Ryan Bumb, Subtext Living 
   
From:  Mr. Srinivasa Yanamanamanda, P.E., PTOE, PTP 

Mr. Brian Rensing, P.E., PTOE 
   
CBB Job Number:  2023-053 
   
Project:  Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development 

University City, Missouri 
 

 
As requested, CBB has completed a parking sufficiency assessment pertaining to the proposed 
mixed-use development in University City, Missouri. The location of the site relative to the 
surrounding area is depicted in Figure 1. 
 

 
Figure 1: Project Location Map 

 



Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Parking Assessment 
September 22, 2023 

Page 2 of 3 

Based on the preliminary site plan provided by you, the development will consist of a 314-unit 
mixed-use residential building with proposed retail, bank, and restaurant on the first two levels. 
Access to the development is proposed as three curb cuts on Loop South.  

Basic Parking Terminology and Concepts 
When describing parking characteristics, it is important to understand the terminology. This 
section defines common parking terms to clarify certain parking topics.  The parking ratio is the 
number of parking spaces provided per unit of land use (i.e. 1,000 gross s.f. or per residential 
unit).  The parking demand is the number of parking spaces being occupied by vehicles at a 
specific land use for a specific moment in time, typically addressing a peak time period.  Parking 
Supply is the total number of spaces provided or available to serve the site.   

Parking facilities are generally perceived to be full by users and illegal parking and cross- parking 
increases when more than 85-95% of the parking spaces supplied are full.  It is generally 
appropriate to supply 5-10% more parking than the peak parking demand.  The cushion (or 
surplus) reduces the need to circulate and search the entire area for the last few available 
parking spaces, reduces user frustration, provides for recurring peak operating load fluctuations, 
visitors, misparked vehicles, snow cover, vehicle maneuvering, and vacancies created by 
reserving spaces for specific users.  The supply cushion also provides for unusual peaks in activity 
on the site. 

Estimated Parking Demand 
In order to forecast the anticipated parking needs for the proposed mix of uses, the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE) Parking Generation Manual (5th Edition) was referenced. This 
manual provides peak parking demand rates for various land uses based on empirical nationwide 
studies.  Table 1 at the end of this memorandum summarizes the estimated parking demand for 
the proposed development. 

SUMMARY
Based on ITE’s estimated parking demand for the proposed development, it is our opinion that 
250 spaces be provided to meet the average parking demand and 410 spaces be provided to 
meet the 85th percentile parking demand. 

We trust that this memorandum adequately addresses the parking demands associated with the 
proposed development. If additional information is desired, please contact me at 
syanamanamanda@cbbtraffic.com. 

mailto:syanamanamanda@cbbtraffic.com


Proposed Mixed-Use Residential Development – Parking Assessment 
September 22, 2023 

Page 3 of 3 

  
Table 1: Weekday Parking Demand Projection 
ITE’s Parking Generation Manual (5th Edition) 

 
 
 

0.71 1.17 1.13 1.13 6.47 12.37 3.72 6

Per Unit Per Unit Per 1000 SF Per 1000 SF Per 1000 SF Per 1000 SF
Per 1000 

SF
Per 1000 

SF
12:00

4:00 AM
5:00 AM 94% 210 346 - 0 0 - 0 0           210 to 346           
6:00 AM 83% 186 305 - 0 0 - 0 0           186 to 305           
7:00 AM 71% 159 261 - 0 0 7% 1 2           160 to 263           
8:00 AM 61% 136 225 - 0 0 24% 3 5           139 to 230           
9:00 AM 55% 123 203 - 0 0 62% 8 12           131 to 215           

10:00 AM 54% 121 199 - 26% 7 13 82% 10 15           138 to 227           
11:00 AM 53% 119 195 - 43% 12 22 90% 11 17           142 to 234           
12:00 PM 50% 112 184 - 95% 25 48 85% 10 16           147 to 248           
1:00 PM 49% 110 181 82% 2 2 49% 13 25 88% 10 17           135 to 225           
2:00 PM 49% 110 181 88% 2 2 39% 11 20 92% 11 17           134 to 220           
3:00 PM 50% 112 184 100% 2 2 37% 10 19 100% 12 19           136 to 224           
4:00 PM 58% 130 214 65% 1 1 62% 17 31 92% 11 17           159 to 263           
5:00 PM 64% 143 236 65% 1 1 99% 26 49 72% 9 14           179 to 300           
6:00 PM 67% 150 247 47% 1 1 100% 26 50 36% 5 7           182 to 305           
7:00 PM 70% 157 258 59% 1 1 83% 22 42 9% 2 2           182 to 303           
8:00 PM 76% 170 280 47% 1 1 51% 14 26 - 0 0           185 to 307           
9:00 PM 83% 186 305 - 28% 8 14 - 0 0           194 to 319           

10:00 PM 90% 201 331 - 10% 3 5 - 0 0           204 to 336           
11:00 PM 93% 208 342 - 0% 0 0 - 0 0           208 to 342           

Max Demand max demand
223          to 368           

Hour 
Beginning

Land Use 221 – Mid Rise Apartments Land Use 932 – High Turnover Sit-Down 
Restaunt 

%  of Peak 
Period

%  of Peak 
Period

Total

Ave to 85 th  %-tile Peak Demand

Ave. ITE 
Peak 

Demand
85 th  %-tile

Ave. ITE Peak 
Demand 85 th  %-tile 

Land Use 912 - Bank

%  of 
Peak 

Period

Ave. ITE 
Peak 

Demand

85 th  %-
tile ITE 
Peak 

Demand

Land Use 876 – Aparel Store

%  of Peak 
Period

Ave. ITE 
Peak 

Demand
85 th  %-tile 

100% 223 368 0- to 368                     223 0 0% 0 0



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
MEETING DATE:   October 25, 2023 
 
FILE NUMBER:   SUB 23-02 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  1 
 
Location:    6630-6654 Delmar Boulevard 
 
Applicant:    Subtext, LLC 
 
Request: Major Subdivision – Lot Consolidation  
 
Existing Zoning:   “CC” Core Commercial 
Proposed Zoning:   “PD-M” District (via REZ 23-02) 
Existing Land Use:   Vacant, commercial 
Proposed Land Use:  Multi-family residential, Elevator Apartments 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North:     CC – Core Commercial 
East:      CC – Core Commercial 
South:     HR – High Density Residential 
West:      CC – Core Commercial    
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No   [ x ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[x] Approval    [  ] Approval with Conditions     [ ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Preliminary Plat 
 
Existing Property and Applicant Request 
The subject property is 1.981 acres in size. There are five (5) parcels that are proposed 
to be consolidated into a single lot to accommodate the Subtext Multi-family 
development. 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 
SUB 23-02 

Staff Review  
Staff reviewed this as part of the “Major Subdivision” process identified in Section 
405.165 of the Subdivision regulations.  
 
Analysis 
Staff has determined that the Plat meets all requirements of 405.380 of the Subdivision 
and Land Development Regulations.     
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposal meets the intent of all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation 
requirements for a Final Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the proposed Major 
Subdivision. 
 
 

 




	A - Agenda - 2023-10-25 Plan Commission
	AGENDA
	VIRTUAL MEETING DETAILS

	B - Minutes - 2023-09-27 Plan Commission
	MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT)

	C - Staff Memo - TXT-23-04 - with attachments
	D - REZ-23-02 Staff Report
	4 Civil Drawings-reduced.pdf
	SCAN2023-10-1112.05.476681
	6681.3_base-C02.0-EXISTING ALTA SURVEY
	6681.3_base-C02.0-EXISTING ALTA SURVEY

	6681.3_base-C03.0-PRELIMINARY-FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
	6681.3_base-C03.0-PRELIMINARY-FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

	6681.3_base-C04.0-SITE SECTIONS
	6681.3_base-C04.0-SITE SECTIONS

	6681.3_base-C05.0-EXISTING RUNOFF MAP
	6681.3_base-C05.0-EXISTING RUNOFF MAP

	6681.3_base-C06.0-PROPOSED RUNOFF MAP
	6681.3_base-C06.0-PROPOSED RUNOFF MAP


	6 Architecture Drawings-reduced.pdf
	Sheets
	EP2.1 - FLOOR PLANS
	EP2.2 - FLOOR PLANS
	EP2.3 - FLOOR PLANS
	EP3.1 - ELEVATIONS
	EP4.1 - RENDERINGS
	EP4.2 - RENDERINGS


	7 Landscape Drawings.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	L501


	8 - 092223_Subtext_Apartments_Traffic Impact Study-reduced.pdf
	Existing Conditions
	Proposed Site


	E - SUB 23-02 Subtext Lot Consolidation Staff Report
	Untitled



